4)PS-0957

Policy Research

WORKING PAPERS

World Development Report

Office of the Vice President Development Economics The World Bank August 1992 WPS 957

Background paper for World Development Report 1992

Carbon Taxes, the Greenhouse Effect, and Developing Countries

Anwar Shah and Bjorn Larsen

A universal case cannot be made for national carbon taxes. Nevertheless, such taxes make eminent sense for many developing countries — on the grounds of equity, efficiency, ease of tax administration, and an improved local environment, even ignoring the potential benefits from controlling global carbon emissions.

Policy Research Working Papers disseminate the findings of work in progress and encourage the exchange of ideas among Bank staff and all others interested in development issues. These papers, distributed by the Research Advisory Staff, carry the names of the authors, reflect only their views, and should be used and cited accordingly. The findings, interpretations, and conclusions are the authors' own. They should not be attributed to the World Bank, its Board of Directors, its management, or any of its member countries.



WPS 957

This paper — a product of the Office of the Vice President, Development Economics — is one in a series of background papers prepared for the *World Development Report 1992*. The *Report*, on development and the environment, discusses the possible effects of the expected dramatic growth in the world's population, industrial output, use of energy, and demand for food. Copies of this and other *World Development Report* background papers are available free from the World Bank, 1818 H Street NW, Washington, DC 20433. Please contact the *World Development Report* office, room T7-101, extension 31393 (August 1992, 68 pages).

Shah and Larsen evaluate the case for carbon taxes in terms of national interests. They reach the following conclusions:

• A global carbon tax involves issues of international resource transfers and would be difficult to administer and enforce. It is thus unlikely to be implemented in the near future.

• National carbon taxes can raise significant revenues cost-effectively in developing countries and are not likely to be as regressive in their impact as commonly perceived. Such taxes can also enhance economic efficiency if introduced as a revenue-neutral partial replacement for corporate income taxes or in cases where subsidies are prevalent. The welfare costs of carbon taxes generally vary directly with the existing level of energy taxes, so a carbon tax should be an instrument of choice for countries such as India and Indonesia, which have few or no energy taxes. • A carbon tax can significantly reduce local pollution and carbon dioxide emissions. Costbenefit analysis shows countries with few or no energy taxes substantially gaining from carbon taxes in terms of an improved local environment.

• A carbon tax of \$10 a ton produces very small output losses for Pakistani industries analyzed in this paper, and the output losses are fully offset by health benefits from reduced emissions of local pollutants — even ignoring the global implications of a reduced greenhouse effect.

• Tradable permits are preferable to carbon taxes where the critical threshold of the stock of carbon emission beyond which temperatures would rise exponentially is known. Given our current ignorance on the costs of reducing carbon emissions and the threshold effect, a carbon tax appears to be a better and more flexible instrument for avoiding large unexpected costs.

The Policy Research Working Paper Series disseminates the findings of work under way in the Bank. An objective of the series is to get these findings out quickly, even if presentations are less than fully polished. The findings, interpretations, and conclusions in these papers do not necessarily represent official Bank policy.

Carbon Taxes, The Greenhouse Effect and Developing Countries

Anwar Shah* and Bjorn Larsen* World Bank, Washington, D.C.

Prepared as a Background Report for the World Development Report 1992

* This paper explores a range of ideas originating from Mr. Summers. The authors are grateful to Andrew Steer for his guidance and support and to Ken Piddington, Nancy Birdsall, Dennis de Tray, Shankar Acharya, Sweder van Wijnbergen, Shahid Chaudhry, Mohamed El-Ashry, David Pearce, Ravi Kanbur, Sudhir Shetty, Nemat Shafik, Patricia Annez, Gordon Hughes and Dennis Anderson for helpful discussions and/or comments. The World Development Report 1992, "Development and the Environment," discusses the possible effects of the expected dramatic growth in the world's p pulation, industrial output, use of energy, and demand for food. Under current practices, the result could be appalling environmental conditions in both urban and rural areas. The World Development Report presents an alternative, albeit more difficult, path - one that, if taken, would allow future generations to witness improved environmental conditions accompanied by rapid economic development and the virtual eradication of widespread poverty. Choosing this path will require that both industrial and developing countries seize the current moment of opportunity to reform policies, institutions, and aid programs. A two-fold strategy is required.

• First, take advantage of the positive links between economic efficiency, income growth, and protection of the environment. This calls for accelerating programs for reducing poverty, removing distortions that encourage the economically inefficient and environmentally damaging use of natural resources, clarifying property rights, expanding programs for education (especially for girls), family planning services, sanitation and clean water, and agricultural extension, credit and research.

• Second, break the negative links between economic activity and the environment. Certain targeted measures, described in the Report, can bring dramatic improvements in environmental quality at modest cost in investment and economic efficiency. To implement them will require overcoming the power of vested interests, building strong institutions, improving knowledge, encouraging participatory decisionmaking, and building a partnership of cooperation between industrial and developing countries.

Other World Development Report background papers in the Policy Research Working Paper series include:

Dennis Anderson, "Economic Growth and the Environment"

- Dennis Anderson and William Cavendish, "Efficiency and Substitution in Pollution Abatement: Simulation Studies in Three Sectors"
- William Ascher, "Coping with the Disappointing Rates of Return of Development Projects with Environmental Aspects"
- Edward B. Barbier and Joanne C. Burgess, "Agricultural Pricing and Environmental Degradation"
- Robin W. Bates and Edwin A. Moore, "Commercial Energy Efficiency and the Environment"
- Wilfred Beckerman, "Economic Development and the Environment: Conflict or Complementarity?"
- Richard E. Bilsborrow, "Rural Poverty, Migration, and the Environment in Developing Countries: Three Case Studies"

Charles R. Blitzer, R.S. Eckaus, Supriya Lahiri, and Alexander Meeraus,

(a) "Growth and Welfare Losses from Carbon Emission Restrictions: A General Equilibrium Analysis for Egypt";

(b) "The Effects of Restrictions of Carbon Dixide and Methane Emissions on the Indian Economy"

Judith M. Dean, "Trade and the Environment: A Survey of the Literature"

Behrouz Guerami, "Prospects for Coal and Clean Coal Technology"

David O. Hall, "Biomass"

- Ravi Kanbur, "Heterogeneity, Distribution and Cooperation in Common Property Resource Management"
- Arik Levinson and Sudhir Shetty, "Efficient Environment Regulation: Case Studies of Urban Air Pollution"
- Robert E.B. Lucas, David Wheeler, and Hemamala Hettige, "Economic Development, Environmental Regulation and the International Migration of Toxic Industrial Pollution: 1960-1988"
- Robert E.B. Lucas, "Toxic Releases by Manufacturing: World Patterns and Trade Policies"
- Ashoka Mody and Robert Evenson, "Innovation and Diffusion of Environmentally Responsive Technologies"
- David Pearce, "Economic Valuation and the Natural World"
- Nemat Shafik and Sushenjit Bandyopadhyay, "Economic Growth and Environmental Quality: Time Series and Cross-Country Evidence"

Anwar Shah and Bjorn Larsen,

(a) "Carbon Taxes, the Greenhouse Effect, and Developing Countries";

(b) "World Energy Subsidies and Global Carbon Emissions"

Margaret E. Slade,

(a) "Environmental Costs of Natural Resource Commodities: Magnitude and Incidence";

(b) "Do Markets Underprice Natural Resouce Commodities?"

Piritta Sorsa, "The Environment - A New Challenge to GATT?"

Sheila Webb and Associates, "Waterborne Diseases in Peru"

Background papers in the World Bank's Discussion Paper series include:

Shelton H. Davis, "Indigenous Views of Land and the Environment"

John B. Homer, "Natural Gas in Developing Countries: Evaluating the Benefits to the Environment"

Stephen Mink, "Poverty, Population and the Environment"

Theodore Panayotou, "Policy Options for Controlling Urban and Industrial Pollution"

Other (unpublished) papers in the series are available direct from the World Development Report Office, room T7-101, extension 31393. For a complete list of titles, consult pages 182-3 of the World Development Report. The World Development Report was prepared by a team led by Andrew Steer; the background papers were edited by Will Wade-Gery.

Table of Contents

1.0 Introduction

The Problem and the Status of Current Policy Discussions

- 2.0 Global Carbon Taxes: Potentials and Perils
- 3.0 Economics of a National Carbon Tax
 - 3.1 Revenue Potential of Carbon Taxes
 - 3.2 Distributional Implications of Carbon Taxes
 - 3.3 Efficiency Costs of Carbon Taxes
- 4.0 The Impact of Carbon Taxes on Greenhouse Gases and Local Pollutants
- 5.0 Carbon Taxes, Industrial Performance and Economic Growth
- 6.0 Tradeable Permits
- 7.0 Some Conclusions
- Appendix A: The Differential Incidence of Carbon Taxes

References

1.0 Introduction

The last few years have witnessed a dramatic growth in worldwide concern over global climate change and a proliferation of proposals to limit or reverse global environmental damage. Carbon taxes and tradeable permits figure prominently in proposed economic policy responses. Despite this policy interest, empirical work relevant to developing countries is almost completely lacking. Even for developed countries, research on carbon taxes is of recent origin (see e.g. Jorgenson and Wilcoxen 1990, Poterba 1991, Pearce 1991 and Goulder 1991) and still largely in progress. A careful analysis of carbon taxes in terms of their impacts on efficiency, equity, economic growth, government revenues and environmental protection, is needed for an informed debate on policy development (see Summers 1991). This paper takes a first step in this direction by quantifying the efficiency and equity implications of carbon taxes for a few selected developing countries.

The paper is organized into seven sections. The remainder of Section 1 outlines the global warming issue and suggested policy responses. Section 2 briefly outlines the potentials and perils of global carbon tax regimes. Section 3 deals with the economics of a national carbon tax. Calculations on the revenue potential and differential incidence of carbon taxes are resented for India, Indonesia, Pakistan, USA and Japan. For Pakistan, detailed calculations on the distributional implications are also presented. Section 4 provides estimates of the impact of carbon taxes on greenhouse gases and local pollutants for the sample countries. Impacts of carbon taxes on industrial performance for selected industries in Pakistan are traced in Section 5, using dynamic production structure empirical models. Section 6 evaluates the use of tradeable permits as an alternative to carbon taxes. A final section presents a summary of the conclusions. The paper concludes that whereas a global carbon tax may be a more distant policy option, national carbon taxes -- if introduced in revenue-neutral fashion by reducing corporate income taxes -- offer significant potential in combatting global change and local pollution, as well as reforming the tax system. Further, a conservative evaluation of the benefits of reducing local externalities overwhelms the negative output effects of carbon taxes. Thus, even ignoring global externalities, a case for carbon taxes for some countries can be made purely on own national interest considerations.

The Problem and the Status of Current Policy Discussions

In recent years, worldwide concern about the atmospheric accumulation of so-called "greenhouse" trace gases - carbon dioxide (CO₂), methane (CH₄), nitrous oxides (N₂O), tropospheric ozone (O₃), and chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs) - has been mounting. By trapping some of the sun's heat in the atmosphere, these gases permit the existence of life on earth. Their rapid accumulation, however, can contribute to a rise in the earth's temperature (commonly termed the "greenhouse effect" or "global warming"). CO₂ is estimated to contribute 80.3% of total warming potential (Nordhaus 1991). Scientists fear that if the current pace of accumulation continues unchecked into the 21st century, a point might be reached when the absorptive capacity of the earth's atmosphere would become exhausted and a natural disaster of unprecedented proportions would consequently ensue. Even without this point being reached, significant warming of the earth's surface is expected to have major economic consequences (see

Churchill and Saunders, 1991, for an overview of the scientific and economic issues of relevance to developing countries). Developing countries with agrarian economies and/or coastlines would be particularly vulnerable to natural calamities associated with global warming. It must be emphasized that there is considerable uncertainty at the present time regarding global climate change, its magnitude, its regional manifestations and its consequences. Much scientific work remains to be done. The uncertain state of our present knowledge of global warming coupled with the potentially large and irreversible damages that might result, call for public policy responses that are both flexible and reversible. The possible use of carbon taxes and tradeable permits to deal with global climate change has initiated a controversial debate.

These debates reflect a wide spectrum of views on this issue. Some argue that in view of the uncertainties regarding climate change, inaction would be the best policy (Eckaus, 1991). At the other extreme, some environmentalists argue that we may have already missed the boat and immediate economic policy responses that may forsake growth are needed (see Postel and Flavin, 1991). A majority, however, take a middle view. Energy economists argue that energy policy options consistent with restraining the greenhouse effect also make good economic sense. Churchill and Saunders (1991), for example, exhort developing countries to seize the initiative and "increase incentives for sustainable energy use, shift to cleaner alternative fuels and technologies, and improve efficiency in energy production, distribution and end use" (p.28). Some public finance economists espouse the same middle-of-the-road view by presenting a somewhat different perspective that emphasizes reliance on flexible and less distortionary tools to deal with an uncertain but potentially serious problem. Summers (1991) has argued that corrective taxes, e.g. taxes on carbon contents of fossil fuels can raise significant amounts of revenue at a relatively small deadweight loss while furthering global and local environmental protection and discouraging "bads", and therefore represent "what we pay to preserve civilization". It has also been argued that in developing countries, carbon taxes offer a potential for enhancing the environment as well as financing developmental expenditures, and could therefore serve as a means to enrich civilization.

It is interesting to note the large energy subsidies that prevail in a handful of large carbon-emitting countries. Getting energy prices right would prima facie represent a first order priority in any economic policy response designed to curtail greenhouse gas emissions. Larsen and Shah (1992a) examine energy pricing practices around the world. In determining the level of subsidy, they use border prices of fossil fuels as reference prices (as proxies for marginal opportunity costs of production). Total world energy subsidies in 1990 are estimated to be in excess of US \$230 billion and, in revenue terms, equivalent to a negative carbon tax of US \$40 per ton of carbon. The removal of such subsidies could reduce global carbon emissions by 9.5%, and would translate into a 21% reduction in carbon emissions in the subsidizing countries. To achieve an equivalent reduction in tons of emissions in the OECD countries, a carbon tax of US \$60 per ton would need to be imposed in the OECD countries. This would result in a total annual cost (in terms of foregone output, adjustment costs, etc.) of US \$15.5 billion. This amount would then represent the upper bound for OECD compensatory transfers to the subsidizing countries. It is also worth noting that very large (37-68%) reductions in global carbon emissions could be achieved, were Japanese or German standards of energy efficiency to be universally adopted.

While this debate continues to rage, some countries have already moved to adopt tax policies that, intentionally or otherwise, bear on the issue of global warming. In late 1989 and in response to ozone depletion, the USA introduced a tax on the sale of CFCs at an initial rate of \$3.02 per kg, representing a 200% tax on the sale price. This tax is scheduled to rise to \$6.83/kg by 1995 and to \$10.80/kg by 1999. Total revenue intake during the first five years is estimated to total \$4.3 billion. The USA has not yet imposed a carbon tax but legislation is currently pending in the U.S. Congress for the phased introduction of a carbon tax to start at \$5 per ton of carbon in 1991, rise to \$25 per ton in 1995. Proposals to increase excises on gasoline and introducing a Federal BTU tax are also under dis-ussion. Note that the U.S. Government remains uncommitted to a targeted policy response to climate change other than advocating economic policies which make good economic sense independently (the so-called "no regrets" policies). Among European countries, Finland took the lead in introducing the world's first carbon tax at a rate of \$6.10 per ton of carbon on all fossil fuels in January 1990. Netherlands and Sweden (\$45/ton tax) have followed suit in February 1990 and January 1991 respectively. The European Community is currently debating a proposal to introduce in a revenue-neutral manner a community-wide carbon-cum-energy tax at US \$3 per barrel. The tax would increase by \$1 a barrel each year in real terms until it reached \$10 per barrel (roughly equivalent to a carbon tax of \$70 per ton) in the year 2000.

At the international level, momentum has steadily built behind the proposition that global warming and other aspects of climate change are of major consequence and require a concerted global policy response. In 1990, the UN General Assembly formally launched international negotiations on a "Framework Convention on Climate Change" and assigned this task to an "Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee"(INC). The INC has held conferences in Geneva (1990, 1991) and Washington (1991). These conferences have debated international protocols to limit emissions of "greenhouse gases. A global climate change "framework convention" is likely to be ratified at the June 1992 UN Conference on the Environment and Development to be held in Brazil. The discussion in these international fora has contered on both domestic and global policy options to combat global climate change. These have included: immediate term options such as a global carbon tax or permits (tradeable or otherwise) and emission limits; intermediate term measures such as increased energy efficiency, afforestation, biomass, nuclear energy and population control; and long term measures such as backstop technologies that use solar, solar-hydrogen and other environmentally safe sources. Developing countries are fully involved in the debate on these issues. One argument often advanced is that the greenhouse effect results from the accumulation over a long period of trace gases contributed primarily by industrial activity in developed countries, and consequently that developing countries should not be asked to sacrifice their current developmental goals in order to address a problem created by past policies of developed countries. In fact, if one were to construct an index of "global warming debt" by level of development, this particular argument would have some empirical validity (see Smith, 1991). It is also frequently asserted that any global attempt to limit environmentally harmful emissions would ultimately slow the economic development of LDCs. Attempts to develop energy intensive manufacturing capability in the early to mid stages of development would be more costly, and hence more difficult. Also as importers of energy intensive manufactures (primarily capital goods), developing countries would end up bearing the burden of the policy response applied to emission generating activities. In general, it is

commonly perceived that, unless accompanied by compensatory transfers, the relative costs of action are likely to be higher for developing countries, given that their relative contribution to the accumulation of these gases is expected to grow faster than that of the OECD countries over the next century. The available literature offers little guidance in determining the validity of these arguments. The following section provides preliminary and tentative guidance on these questions.

2.0 Global Carbon Taxes: Potentials and Perils

Taxes on the carbon content of fossil fuels have been advocated in recent years as part of a proposed concerted international effort to combat global climate change. While both the need for and the mechanics of such taxes remain unsettled issues, a general consensus is emerging that, if adopted globally, such taxes would represent a flexible, reversible and lower cost alternative to regulatory responses, including the widely-discussed notion of equal percentage reductions in greenhouse emissions by all countries. The latter measure is unlikely to lead to the equalization of marginal emission reduction costs from all sources and would not. therefore, result in a cost efficient outcome for the world as a whole (see Hoel, 1991). Tietenberg (1985) reports that cost savings associated with moving from equal percentage reductions to a market based instrument such as a carbon tax, could be substantial (exceeding 40% of total costs). Maler (1989) also reports that a uniform percentage reduction strategy for greenhouse gas emissions would capture only one third of the total potential gains from optimal allocation. A uniform level carbon tax (i.e., tax per unit of carbon emissions equal for all gases and all countries), if imposed by a global agreement, would equalize the marginal costs of emission reductions (by fossil fuel and by location), and would therefore be cost-efficient. Several alternative designs for such an agreement are possible, with each presenting its own particular shortcomings. Consider the case of a domestic carbon tax that is imposed by an international agreement. Since perspectives on global warming vary among countries, national commitment to impose such taxes will also vary. If a country has signed such agreement under international pressure, that country can make the carbon tax an ineffective instrument by reducing existing energy taxes, by taxing close substitutes of fossil fuels (e.g. hydroelectricity), and providing subsidies to complements or products that are fossil fuel energy intensive, and by lax enforcement of the agreed-upon carbon tax (see Hoel 1991). Thus by following a suitable strategy, a free ride becomes possible. A global carbon tax imposed by an international agency. on the other hand, would impinge on national sovereignty and therefore would not likely be accepted internationally. A third alternative would have globally imposed but nationally administered and collected carbon taxes; countries would make a positive or negative net transfer to an international agency based upon an agreed revenue disposition scheme. Basic criteria for such redistribution would be population and GDP, or a combination of these factors. Additionally, a small fraction of the revenue pool could be distributed on the basis of special considerations, e.g. to provide an inducement to countries which might view global warming as beneficial (such as Russia, Canada and Nepal) to join an international agreement. Tables 2.1 and 2.2 provide illustrations of net transfers involved based on the three revenue redistribution schemes outlined above, using either standard GDP or GDP adjusted by purchasing power parity -- so-called Penn GDP. From these tables, it is apparent that a revenue redistribution alternative

Table 2.1 Net transfers by country under alternate carbon tax regimes (Using UN National Accounts GDP)

								Tax Regimes 1	•3		2:			3:		
														World tex	Net	
		202				_		World tax	Het	H r. 9	Vorld let	REC.	Ket	distributed	revenues	Ket
		per		Cerbon	Carbon	Tex	TOA	distributed	per capita	FAVORUES -	distributed	per capita	Feveruse	half and half	per cepite	revenues
	6.05	21ta	af uprid	44116110116 10	Der	tients	to	by population	(US\$)	K af	by ODP	(USS)	X of	by population	1 (USB)	20P
	- ii	787	antes ford	(C)P	Cal-1ta	\$10/ton)	GEP (%)	(mill US\$)		60 P	(mill USS)		GOP	(mill 2)		-
	•			(ks/\$)	(kg)	mill USS										
	•	166	0.068	0.179	30	32	0.183	1160	10.82	6.501	54	15.0	0.13	1 61 X 63	r 3.34 0 5.07	2.21%
EICERIA	•	229	0.163	0.366	- 64	90	0.37	1185	10.28	2,01	914	-4.44	-1.56	X 640	8 0.66	0.23%
CHINA	•	286	10.381	1.668	533	5699	1.87	11004	9.30	2.691	785	.0.84	.0.26	X 482	7 4.23	1.321
INCLA	•	355	2.653	0.567	102	1474	0.39	1140	9.64	3.021	102	-0.29	+0.09	X 62	1 4.77	1.043
PAKISTAN		323	0.247	0.344	153	263	0.35	1906	9.59	2.161	r 535	•0,18	-0.04	X 100 X 5	a 1.65	0.318
INDOKESIA Alwanalik		508	0.081	0.774	463	42	0.77	100	6.49	1.097	100	-2.00	-0.23	i 53	3 2.65	0.40%
SCYPT, APAB REPUBLIC		709	0.351	6 0.536	380	190	0.54	L 558	7.32	1.03	z 58	+15.42	+1.76	x 14	8 -11.42	-1.25%
KOREA, DEN PEOPLE'S		689	0.713	\$ \$.063	1834	392	2.06	L 630			•					
fatal			15.10	t		8292	4	_	7 78	2 451	r	-2.30	+0.72	*	2.74	0.86%
Average		318		1.073	341		1.0/	K .	1.10	6.42	-					
Ave w/a Chine, Kor				0,491					•							
						-			1.49	0.10	x 430	-4.18	-0.24	X 61	v •1.2	-0.07%
HEXICO	•	1715	1.41	K 0.550	343	501	0.17	1573	7.56	0.35	X 928	3.01	0,14	X 123	1 2.6	-0.54%
BRAZIL		2143	1.381	L 0.919	2292	759	0.92	x 368	-11.60	-0.47	¥ 253	-15.27	-0.81	a 11	5 -3.1	-0.12%
SOUTH APELICA	•	2629	0.42	L 0.485	1276	233	0.49	x 203	-1.64	-0.06	L 107	.1 12	-0.04	in 43	5 -0.3	i +0.01¥
KOREA, REPUBLIC OF	٠	3121	0.821	K 0.342	1067	449	0.34	X 468	0.43	0.01	a		••••			
1-1-1			4.951	x		2716		-			-	-1.76	-0.08	XX	0.3	0.028
Average		2228)	0.365	857		0.35	X	2.33	0.11	~					
Ave w/o B. Africa				0,314												1 497
						1257	7 1.97	X 419	-22.26	-1.35	X 196	-28.10	•1.6	52 31	12 .4.1	0.14%
POLANO	Ξ.	20/	0.60	L 0.492	1403	328	0.49	2 260	-2.91	-0.10	X 204	•3.31	-0.1	74 51	-17.4	0.21%
TUGUSLAVIA		8129	18.45	8 0.430	3578	10121	0.43	x 3148	-24.66	-0.30	K (213 K (213	-12.82	-0.1	ix 3	-21.4	225.0- 0
CZECHOSLOVAKIA	٠	9242	1.17	X 0.443	+110	640	0.44	X 1/3	.43 57	-0.16	574	-19,23	+0.1	7% 3	P9 -30.9	0 -0.27%
Germany, Sast	• 1	11261	1.63	x 0.477	5369	89	6 U.40	a, 103	-46121	••••	-					
			24.13	x		1324	3					.17 25	1	6 %	-18.1	8 -0.24%
Total		7489)	0.470	3520)	0.47	x	-24.08	-0.32	X	-16.64				
Ave w/o Polend				0.435	•									.		
					1034		0.35	x 181	-28.14	0.25	X 56 5	-4.4	.0.0	4 X 3	73 • 10.3	A .0.082
AUSTRALIA		11364	1.10	N 0.340	4721	109	0.26	X 28	-31.09	-0.19	127	6,93	0.0	sa / sv 20	4.5	0 0.02%
CANADA		18746	1.21	x 0.155	2898	177	9 0.16	X 68	-17.85	-0.10	K 3410	6 20.0r	0.0	31 02	32 -17.3	5 -0.09%
Germany, OVIC		16434	22.69	18 0.27	5112	1246	1 0.2	X 271	-40.00	.0.04	x 726	40.07	0.2	18 43	10 15.8	8 0.08X
JAPAN	•	1943	4.32	x 0.100	3 1942	237	1 0.10	1350								
····		18204	\$ 33.39	x		1833	4			-0.19		16.91	I 0.0	9%	-5.5	3 -0.03%
Total Aver se		100.0	, ,,,,,,	0.21	L 3908	3	0.21	X	-27.90	-0.13	7		• •••			
sample total			77.56	5%												
AFRICA		66	a.s 2.6	0% 0.40	5 26	1 154	0 0.4	07. 654	1 8.51	1.3	28 116	4 .0.44	6 -0.1	0X V	62 3.0	A 0.611
SOUTH AMERICA		195	1 2.4	6X 0.24	9 48	6 135	0 0.2	5X 309	1 6.20	5 0.3	2% 166	o 1.1	2 0.0	6X 23	76 3.6	9 0.192
EUROPE		1113	6 21.1	38 0.21	0 234	3 1160	0 0.2	18 550	6 -12.31	-0.1	1X 1687	0 10.6	5 0.1	0% 111	87 -0.6	3 -0.017
BORTH & CENTRAL AM	ERU	1269	7 76.0	43 0.28	1 362	0 1430	0 0.Z	5X 439	2 .25.0	s •0.1	PX 1559	1 3.2	7 0.0	3X 99	92 •10.5	1 .0.081
ATA		131	a 1.3 3 24.4	016 0.31 016 0.15	7 CYV 0 LA	6 /1 6 1140	0 U.J 0 0 T	59 60 57 8101	r 10.60 7 6.44	· · · · . 2	VA 05 NX 1179	0 •1.23 1 .0 4	,0.0 s	11A 4 1412 31a	10 10.0	16 10.11X
USSR		832	8 18.3	9% 0.42	9 356	9 1010	0 0.4	38 314	7 -24.51	•0.3	0% 721	3 .10.20	0.1	2% 51	80 -17.3	×15.0. 9
WORLD		363	s 100.00	DX 0.30	6 111	2 5491	0 0.3	1X 5491	0.00	0.00	0% 5491	0 0.00	0.0	0% 549	10 0.0	0 0.00%
Notes carbon enlagt) one	-	from fest	sil fuel e	onbustion	onty.										

Note: carbon emissions are from fessil fuel com Emissions from deforestation are not included.

/

Table 2.2 Net transfers by country under global carbon tax regimes (Using PENN GDP)

								Tax Regimes	1-3							
								11			2:			31		
	1	Penn												World tax		
		COP						Morid tex	Xet		World tes	Ket		LEAGURISE	Wet	
		CAP .		Cerbon	Carbon	Tex	Tex	Coversies.	CAVADUA	list	COVERNER	COVERLIES.	Net	distributed	Feverues.	Net
					anianiana	Rauters and	-	diate linetad	ner canite	FAVARAM	diste ihuted	Dec capito	Pavenues	half and half	per cepite	revenues
		3,3110				(1			PAL CONTRA	T of Band	by Reen COR	11111	X of	by Pann COP	(1158.)	1 of
		(039)	or sorte	10 7811	per	ALGAN		of population		A OF PERM	4-111 1000	(Barro COB	and consistion	、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、、	Report CDR
		1987	enteston	GOP (ball)	Capita	\$107(Ch)	(A) 4(A)	(mill Uss)		(A) P	(m)((039)		Parat Gur	(all US\$)	•	
				([[/]]	(48)	BILL 035										
WICEBLA		248	0.148	0.339	84	90	0.343	1155	10.28	6.141	L 71	-0.18	•0.075	628	5.05	2.03X
	٠		0 641	0 034	10	32	0.041	1180	10.62	1.301	235	1.92	0.237	L 708	6.37	0.77%
14014		017	2 454	0.101	187	1454	0.192	8868	9.30	0.981	2016	0.70	0.071	L 5441	\$.00	0.53%
TANDARIA		1047	0.082	0 442	443	47	0.443	100	A.40	0.621	25	+1.64	+0.181	L 63	2.33	855.0
LINGUERIA		1740	0 484	0 121	161	241	0.121	1004	0.50	0.761	580	1.85	0.151	L 1243	5.72	0.45%
		1101	0.404	0.002	120	112	0 000	1140	0 84	0 711	100	2.41	0.171	160	6.13	0.44%
PARIBEAN		1371	0.04	0.076	169	500	0 349	664	7 13	0 601	105	0.08	0.01	376	3.70	0.25%
EGTPT, ARAB REPUBLI	C	1474	0.338	0.201	300	8400	0.204	11003	1.36	0.304	4170	0.00	0.011	0126	3.21	0.16%
CHENA	•	2233	10.304	U.234	223	3077	VIENA		3.14	0.404		0,00	0.020			•••••
Totel			14.39%			7900								_		
Average		1534		0.213	328	1	0.213	1	7.64	0,\$11	6	58.0	0.051	5	4.33	0.25%
					1974		0.179	202		.0.051	147	FA F.	.0.111	c 185	.2.63	-0.051
VENEZUELA	7	3466	0.428	0.3/3	1610		0.314	EV3	1.04			0.48	0.021	. AAA	1 17	0.052
MEXICO		3780	1.418	0.249	743		0.23	¥10	1.07	0.047	74	0.63	0.011		0 41	0.011
KOREA, REPUBLIC OF		42.10	0.82%	0.252	1067		0.23	900	0.43	0.00		0.00	0.101	1457	A 14	0.168
BRAZIL		4613	0.92%	0.077	370	203	0.084	12/3	(.30	0.103	621	.2.13	.0.121	444	.0 47	10 168
SOUTH AFRICA	•	5921	1.36%	0.387	2292	2 759	0.39%	308	.11.00	•0.201		.,,13	.0.121	• •••		
Intel			4.958			2714										
Average		4414		0.194	857	•	v. 193		2.55	0.061	6	3.20	0.073	6	2.87	0.07%
												-0.40	.0.019		.1 80	-0.048
VUGOSLAVIA	•	5000	0.60%	0.281	1403	320	0.28%	200	.5.41	-0.067	312	-0.07	-0.012	400	.30 18	.0.127
POLAND	•	5579	2.29%	0.598	3336	1257	0.601	419	-55.50	-0.401	500	-10.50	.0.331	410	-20.30	-0.3/4
USSR	٠	6791	18.45%	0.527	3578	10129	0.533	3148	-24.66	-0.361	5128	• 17.00	10.20	4130	-21.10	-0.318
CZECHOSLOVAKIA	٠	8521	1.173	0.482	4110) 640	0.457	173	-29.98	-0.351	356	• 18.30	.0.221	6 <u>60</u> 9		·U.20A
Germany, East	٠	8767	1.63%	0.612	5369	694	0.613	185	-42.57	-0.491	389	-30.31	-0.351	207	*30,44	•0,424
			74 119			13748										
IDIBL		4747	641138	0 824	16.20		0.522		+24.08	+0.363	L	-17.28	-0.261	6	-20.68	-0.315
VALER		0111		V.764	27K4		V./64			•••••				-		
AUSTRAL 2A	٠	11782	1.16%	0.333	3926	638	0.33%	181	-28.14	-0.241	L 511	•7.83	-0.071	546	-17.99	-0.15%
JAPAN	٠	12506	4.328	0.155	1942	2371	0.16%	1358	-8.30	-0.071	i 4073	13.94	0.112	2715	2.82	7.02%
CAVADA		15730	1.99%	0.268	4221	1091	0.27%	207	-31.09	·0.20%	1085	-0.25	0.001	686	-15.67	+0.10%
Garmany, Mast		16893	3.238	0.172	2698	1773	0.178	680	-17.86	-0.118	: 2756	16.08	0.109	1718	-0.89	-0.01%
UNLIED STATES	٠	17505	22.69%	0.292	5112	12661	0.29%	2711	-40.00	-0.233	11383	-4.42	-0.031	L 7047	-22.21	-0,13%
Total			33.39%			10334		,	. 37 64	-0.400	,	1 44	0.039		. 12 41	•D.0#E
Average		15828		0.247	3908		0.251	•	·27.90	•0.104	•	3.14	0.064	•	- 16.41	
Remain total			76.852													
X of world total																
					• • •		A 944	4844		0.00	1477	15.0	0.021	£110	6.37	0.412
AFRICA		1065	2.80%	0.245	261	1740	0.433	1010	0.31	0.004	1010	ξ. π	0.444	3020	6.61	0.15%
SOUTH AMERICA		3976	2.46%	0.122	650	1350	0.128	3071	0.40	-0.104	12948	4 10	0.049	10111	-3.01	-0.014
EUROPE		11146	21.138	0.210	2343	11600	0.21%	3304	-12.31	-0.114	116/10	-1 08	-0.001	80%4	.12.81	-0.112
BORTH & CENTRAL ANEL	RI -	12828	26.04X	0.282	3620	14300	Q.26X	4392	·23.08	-0.201	13310	- 1.90	-0.064			
OCEANIA		9824	1.318	0.305	2992	718	0.30%	Z67	-18.80	-0.19%	629	-3.71	-0.041	448	-11.25	-0.11%
ASIA		2126	24.40%	0.217	466	13400	0.22%	31947	6.46	0.30%	16294	1.01	0.05%	24120	3.73	0.16X
USSA		6793	18.39%	0.525	3569	10100	0.53%	3147	-24,57	·0.36%	5128	-17.57	·0.26%	4136	-21.07	-0.31%
		1140	100.000	A 747		64010	0.274	5201A	0.00	0.001	54010	0.00	0.001	54010	0.00	0.00%
Marta		4104	100.00%	v.20/	1112	74710	0.618	34710	0.00	v		0.00	0.004			

Note: Carbon emissions are from fossit fuel combustion only. Emissions from deferestation are not included.

based on population alone would be unacceptable to most industrialized countries, whereas one based solely on GDP would not be agreeable to developing countries. Note that under the formula that uses population as the sole factor, net transfers to developing countries would dwarf current official development assistance. It is possible that a formula that uses a combination of both factors and therefore redistributes only a very small fraction of total carbon tax revenues, might find acceptance by a majority of countries.

A recent proposal by Norway would have mandatory greenhouse reduction targets imposed on industrial countries; such targets could be exceeded only by financing the transfer and/or adoption of green technology in developing countries. If such a proposal is received well in OECD countries, some of these countries might well choose to adopt carbon taxes to achieve the agreed-upon targets, then partly use the proceeds from carbon taxes to finance technology transfer to developing countries. In general, the prognosis for the acceptance of a global carbon tax regime is quite pessimistic. The degree of scientific uncertainty that surrounds global warming makes it unlikely that a majority of countries would agree to an international convention that is seen to forsake their current growth. The critical question then is that if one ignores the important yet uncertain phenomenon of global warming, is there a case for the adoption of national carbon taxes on other grounds, such as tax reform or a reduction in environmental externalities? The following sub-sections present a benefit-cost calculus of carbon taxes based on these latter considerations.

3. Economics of a National Carbon Tax

As discussed earlier, taxes on the carbon content of fossil fuels to combat global climate change have been widely advocated and also recently implemented in selected countries. In the following section, the case for carbon taxes is examined in terms of their revenue potential, efficiency and distributional implications, and impacts on global and local externalities. For the purpose of these calculations, a small fossil fuel carbon tax of the order of \$10/ton of carbon contents is selected. Such a tax results in 2% and 8.6% increases in the aggregate price of fossil fuels, and 1.0% and 5.6% reductions in consumption of fossil fuels, in Japan and India, respectively (Table 3.1). Partial equilibrium calculations presented in this paper, offer reasonable and defensible approximation of the impact of small carbon taxes; the same confidence could not be asserted for those taxes of \$100/ton or higher which are frequently discussed in global models.

3.1 <u>Revenue Potential of Carbon Taxes</u>

The revenue potential of carbon taxes is extremely large. For example, a 10/ton carbon tax, individually imposed by all nations of the world could raise \$55 billion in the very first year of its operation (see Table 3.1). For some countries, like China and Poland, such revenues would amount to about 2% of GDP and would be sufficient to wipe out central government's budgetary deficit. On the average, countries having a 1987 per capita GDP of less than US\$900 could raise revenues exceeding one percent of GDP and 5.7% of government revenue. For the OECD countries, comparable figures would be 0.21% of GDP and 1.0% of government

revenue. Carbon taxes in general are easier to administer than personal and corporate taxes and thereby less prone to tax avoidance and evasion. Due to tax evasion, the latter taxes raise revenues that are considerably less than their potential yield. Carbon taxes therefore present an attractive alternative to income taxes in developing countries. But how do such taxes fare in terms of equity and efficiency?

3.2 Distributional Implications of Carbon Taxes

The existing literature on industrialized countries typically portrays carbon taxes as regressive charges. This is because expenditures on fossil fuel consumption as a proportion of . current annual income, falls with income. Poterba (1991) relates carbon taxes to annual consumption expenditures -- a proxy for permanent income -- and still finds a regressive incidence, although one considerably less pronounced than with respect to annual income. These results nevertheless cannot be generalized to developing countries, where the incidence of carbon taxes would be affected by institutional factors. Some important factors that may have a bearing on the tax-shifting are: market power, price controls, import quotas, rationed foreign exchange, the presence of black markets, tax evasion and urban-rural migration.

Case (a): Full Forward Shifting. The degree of tax-shifting depends upon the relative elasticities of supply and demand for the taxed commodity. For example, carbon taxes on production or use of fossil fuels can be fully forward-shifted in the short run if the firms in the industry have full market power, or the demand for the taxed commodity is perfectly inelastic, or the supply is perfectly elastic. In Table 3.2, columns (a) and (b) present carbon tax (\$10/ton) incidence calculations for Pakistan using data from the 1984/85 Household Income and Expenditure Survey and employing two alternative concepts of household income. Column (a) relates carbon tax payments to household current income by income class and column (b) to household expenditure by income class. In either case, the carbon tax burden falls with income, thereby yielding a regressive pattern of incidence. Such regressivity is nevertheless less pronounced with respect to household expenditures, thereby confirming the same conclusions reached by Poterba (1991) for the US.

	Popu- lation (mill) 1987	GDP per capita (US\$) 1987	Carbon emissions to GDP (kg/\$)	Carbon emissions per capita (kg)	a Tax Revenues (Tax:\$10/ton) mili US\$	Tax revenues to GDP (X)	Gov't rev to GDP X	Carbon tax revenues to total gov't revenues %	Carbon tax revenues to gov't deficit %
BANGLADESH	* 106.1	166	0.179	30	32	0.18%	9.12x	1.967	6
NIGERIA	* 106.6	229	0.366	84	90	0.37%	5 15.71%	2.33%	4.18 X
CHINA	*1068.5	286	1.868	533	5699	1.87%	21.19%	8.81%	262.31%
INDIA	=/97.53	322	0.567	182	1454	0.57%	14.73%	3.85%	6.65%
PAKISTAN	*102.48	325	0.394	128	132	0.39%	17.29%	2.287	4.63%
INDONESIA	=171.44	443	0.346	153	263	0.35%	21.33%	1.62%	21.97%
ZIMBABWE	8.99	598	0.774	463	42	0.77%	33.10%	2.34%	7.03%
EGTPT, ARAB REPUBL	10" 50.14	709	0.556	380	190	0.547	38.07%	1.41%	9.03X
KUREA, DEM PEOPLE'	S K 21.3/	889	2.003	1854	392	2.06%	5		
Total					8292				
Averages						1.07%	18.78X	5.71%	25.20%
MEXICO	* 81.86	1715	0.550	943	772	0.55%	17.41%	3.16%	4.06%
BRAZIL	*141.43	2145	0.166	356	503	0.17%	33.29%	0.50%	1.42%
SOUTH AFRICA	* 33.11	2493	0.919	2292	759	0.92%	23.02%	3.99%	16.11%
VENEZUELA	* 18.27	2629	0.485	1276	233	0.49%	21.61%	2.25%	27.25%
KOREA, REPUBLIC OF	* 42.08	3121	0.342	1067	449	0.34%	17.27%	1.98%	-77.26%
Total					2716				
Averages						0.38%	25.16%	1.53%	4.56%
POLAND	* 37.66	1697	1.967	3338	1257	1.072	38.78%	5.07%	137.024
YUGOSLAVIA	* 23.41	2848	0.492	1403	328	0.492	6.86%	7.182	-1288.78%
USSR	+ 283.1	8325	0.430	3578	10129	0.43%	0.004	1.104	
CZECHOSLOVAKIA	+ 15.57	9242	0.445	4110	640	0.44%	48.35%	0.92%	527.11%
Germany, East	* 16.65	11261	0.477	5369	894	0.48%			
Total					·13248				
Averages						0.47%			
AUSTRALIA	* 16.25	11364	0.346	3926	638	0.35%	26.50X	1.30%	28.73%
CANADA	* 25.85	16056	0.263	4221	1091	0.26%	20.29%	1.30%	-10.32%
Germany, West	* 61.17	18249	0.159	2898	1773	0.16%	29.34%	0.54%	15.01%
UNITED STATES	+243.77	18434	0.277	5112	12461	0.28%	20.23%	1.37%	8.45%
JAPAN	*122.09	19437	0.100	1942	2371	0.10%	13.77%	0.73%	2.82%
Total					18334	0 314	10 774	1 084	7 914
VAGLERCS						V.61A	17. [[#	1.00%	7.QIA

Table 3.1 Revenue Potential of a US \$10/ton domestic carbon tax (Using UN National Accounts GDP)

Note: Carbon emissions are from fossil fuel combustion only. Emissions from deforestation are not included.

Monthly Income	Full Forw	ard Shifting	Capital	Owners	Capital Owners (0.69)	Consumption (0.31)
(Rupees)	TAX/Y	TAX/EXP	TAX/Y	TAX/EXP	TAX/Y	TAX/EXP
	(a)	(b)	(c)	(d)	(e)	(f)
600	1.49	1.19	0.66	0.53	0.92	0.74
601-700	0.89	0.83	0.62	0.58	0.71	0.66
701-800	0.91	0.86	0.64	0.60	0.72	0.68
801-1000	0.80	0.77	0.68	0.66	0.72	0.69
1001-1500	0.81	0.81	0.72	0.72	0.75	0.75
1501-2000	0.81	0.85	0.76	0.79	0.78	0.81
2001-2500	0.82	0.87	0.74	0.79	0.77	0.82
2501-3000	0.74	0.80	0.77	0.83	0.76	0.82
3001-3500	0.76	0.83	0.75	0.81	0.75	0.82
3501-4000	0.78	0.83	0.77	0.83	0.77	0.83
4001-4500	0.68	0.78	0.78	0.90	0.75	0.86
4500+	0.51	0.67	0.80	1.06	0.71	0.94
	Regressive	Regressive	Progressive	Progressive	Proportional	Progressive

(carbon taxes (TAX) as percent of monthly income (Y) or expenditure (EXP))

.

Table 3.2 Carbon Tax (\$10/Ton) Incidence - Pakistan 1984/85

.

Case (b): Complete Absence of Forward Shifting. Under a variety of circumstances, the burden of carbon taxes can fall entirely on capital owners. This can happen if price controls apply and legal pass-forward of the tax is disallowed, or if supply is completely price inelastic. The carbon tax will then be fully borne by fixed factors of production. With binding import quotas or rationed foreign exchange, carbon taxes will reduce rents received by quota recipients, rather than affect prices paid by consumers. Under the assumption of zero forward shifting, the burden of a carbon tax is attributed to capital income alone. The allocation of tax by capital income is then related to household income and household expenditures. Both these calculations yield a progressive distribution of the carbon tax burden (see Table 3.2: columns (c) and (d)).

Case (c): Partial Forward Shifting. Clearly, (a) and (b) above are polar cases and are unlikely to be fully satisfied for energy products in any country. There are only a handful of empirical studies which examine shifting assumptions for developing countries. One such study was carried out for excise taxes in Pakistan by Jeetun (1978). He finds 31% forward shifting of excises in Pakistan. Given than a tax on the carbon content of fossil fuels at their production stage is by its very nature an excise tax, it would be reasonable to use this assumption for assessing the distribution of the carbon tax burden. In Table 3.2, columns (e) and (f), 31% of the carbon tax is attributed to final consumption and 69% to general capital income; these series are then related to household incomes and expenditures by income class. This results in a roughly proportional incidence of carbon taxes under the former series and a progressive incidence pattern under the latter series.

Comparison with the Incidence of Personal and Corporate Income Taxes: The above analysis suggests that the regressivity of carbon taxes should be less of a concern in developing countries than in developed countries. This conclusion is further reinforced when one examines the incidence of personal income tax in a typical developing country. Personal income tax may not necessarily turn out to be a progressive element in the overall tax system, given both tax evasion and urban-rural migration effects, and their significance in lower to middle income countries. With respect to tax evasion, Shah and Whalley (1991) argue that, if the bribe rate is high and tax compliance low, the redistributive impact of the bribe system is likely to dominate the direct redistributive effects of income taxes. The relevant issue then is who receives the bribes. If public service is dominated by a seniority system, then high officials with higher income and wealth receive a large portion (or the majority) of the bribe, along with professionals (accountants) who often act as "middlemen" in this process. Increasing income tax can thus trigger a reverse distributional process from middle class businessmen and others to wealthy elites, an entirely opposite conclusion to that commonly reached. Thus tax evasion either reduces or offsets the progressivity of the tax system. The perceived progressivity of personal income tax is further clouded by the operation of the Harris-Todaro effect. In developing countries, personal income tax is imposed on urban sector incomes only. Under such circumstances, if expected wages are equalized across modern and traditional sectors through rural-urban migration effects, some of the burden of the (urban) tax is shifted to the rural sector through intersectoral wage effects. Thus, rural workers, although they face no legal liability to pay the tax, bear part of the burden of the tax through reduced wages. The potential importance of this effect is illustrated by Shah and Whalley (1991) using 1984-85 data for Pakistan. They

find that incorporation of the Harris-Todaro effect in incidence calculations clouds the progressivity of the personal income tax in Pakistan (see Table 3.3). Shah and Whalley (1991) also present calculations establishing the progressivity of corporate income taxes that take into account complications introduced by foreign and public ownership of the corporate sector in Pakistan.

The above analysis suggests that concerns over the regressivity of carbon taxes may be over-stated. If the lowest income group is protected from the regressive impact of carbon taxes by direct subsidies or alternate measures, then the regressivity of carbon taxes may not pose a serious policy concern. Further, if carbon taxes are used to reduce personal income taxes, traditional concerns that such a tax change would represent a move to a less progressive tax structure are not fully justified. Thus, a commonly perceived and widely accepted case against carbon taxes, based on equity grounds, does not hold up under a closer scrutiny.

3.3 Efficiency Costs of Carbon Taxes

By design, carbon taxes distort production, investment and consumption decisions and thereby internalize the social costs of global and local externalities. For every dollar of carbon tax revenues raised, consumers lose more than a dollar in direct and indirect costs. It is the indirect or hidden costs of carbon taxes relative to other forms of taxation that are of interest to policy makers. The literature commonly refers to these costs as marginal welfare costs of taxation. In evaluating the potential of carbon taxes, one needs to determine what will be the impact on economic efficiency if the same revenues were to be raised by carbon taxes rather than by existing (and distortionary) taxes on income. The empirical literature on this question is regrettably sparse. Poterba (1991), for example, provides estimates of average and marginal deadweight loss associated with carbon taxes relative to a no-tax scenario. Such calculations are interesting, yet, as the following analysis demonstrates, pre-existing taxes have a major bearing on welfare costs. Further, it is the differential (relative to other taxes), rather than the absolute incidence of carbon taxes, that offers useful policy insights. Goulder (in progress) is pursuing this line of inquiry for the U.S. using a computable general equilibrium model. Browning (1987) has argued that a properly specified partial equilibrium model of taxation's welfare costs offers superior insights on the measurement of welfare costs since, in such an analysis, the contribution made by key parameters to the final estimate remains transparent, whereas it is obscured in CGE models. He further demonstrates that almost all the differences in welfare costs of taxation for the US can be traced to different assumptions regarding key parameters, rather than differences in the nature of models (i.e. partial vs general equilibrium). In the following, two measures for the differential costs of carbon taxation and a measure for the absolute burden of carbon taxes are presented. All these measures explicitly recognize existing taxes. Derivations of these expressions are laid out more fully in Appendix A.

Case (a): Welfare Costs Under a Revenue Neutral Change That displaces Equal yield Personal Income Taxes by a \$10/ton Carbon Tax. An evaluation of the welfare costs of carbon taxation is carried out here by using a frequently employed concept of applied welfare economics known as the Hicksian compensating variations. According to this measure, welfare loss is defined as the additional income required to maintain the consumer's original utility level, given

(a) Incidence of Personal Income Taxes in Pakistan under Alternative Approaches

•

(tax as a percentage of total income)

					Form o	f income tax	shift to rural	sector	
Annual bousebold	No pr	Reduced ru	wages for lou ral household	v-income Is	Reduced rural wages overall				
income (rupees)	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Under 7,200	0	0	0	0	0.74	0.58	0	0.54	0.42
7,200-8,400	0	0	0	0	0.83	0.63	0	0.60	0.45
8,400-9,600	0	0	0	0	0.88	0.63	0	0.64	0.46
9,600-12,000	0	0	0	0	0.73	0.46	0	0.52	0.34
12,000-18,000	0.02	0	0.01	0.01	0.57	0.35	0.01	0.41	0.25
18,000-24,000	0.04	0	0.02	0.02	0.70	0.38	0.02	0.32	0.18
24,000-30,000	0.02	0	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.29	0.13
30,000-36,000	0.20	0	0.13	0.09	0.02	0.06	0.09	0.26	0.16
36,000-42,000	0.22	0	0.16	0.10	0.02	0.07	0.10	0.31	0.17
42,000-48,000	0.40	0	0.29	0.18	0.03	0.13	0.18	0.19	0.18
48,000-54,000	0.77	0	0.50	0.35	0.01	0.23	0.35	0.18	0.29
Above 54,000	1.33	0	1.04	0.61	0.11	0.47	0.61	0.13	0.48

Note: Calculations under "no personal income tax in rural sector" are based on actual tax collections by income class as reported in Pakistan, Government of (1985). All figures from this survey are adjusted to bring the total in line with data from Pakistan, Government of (1988). Income tax collections on household income derived from urban sources or from graduated surcharges on land revenue are effectively zero.

13

	Inc	Income category subject to the tax burden						
Annual household income (rupees)	Capital	Capital and consumption	Capital and labor	and foreign enterprises				
Under 7,200	1.18	1.71	1.56	0.85				
7,200-8,400	1.06	1.55	1.64	0.77				
8,400-9,600	1.04	1.53	1.70	0.76				
9,600-12,000	1.26	1.62	1.69	0.91				
12,000-18,000	1.46	1.70	1.69	1.06				
18,000-24,000	1.70	1.79	1.68	1.24				
24,000-30,000	1.68	1.76	1.69	1.22				
30,000-36,000	1.75	1.78	1.68	1.28				
36,000-42,000	1.77	1.78	1.66	1.29				
42,000-48,000	1.81	1.79	1.65	1.32				
48,000-54,000	1.89	1.76	1.63	1.34				
Above 54,000	2.01	1.74	1.64	1.46				

(b) Incidence of Corporate Taxes in Pakistan under Alternative Approaches (tax as a percentage of total income)

Source: Shah and Unalley (1991)

the vector of new consumer and producer prices resulting from the policy change. Thus it is the additional income that would make the consumer indifferent to the new vector of consumer prices. A Taylor-series approximation of the expenditure function, yields the following expression for the welfare cost of the tax system under the equal yield scenario mentioned above.

$$L^{N} = L - L' = -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{xp} \left[\frac{(T_{1}^{x})^{2} - (T_{1}^{x} + T_{2}^{x})^{2}}{p_{1}^{2}} \right] p_{1}x_{1}$$

$$-\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{xw} \left[\frac{T_{1}^{x}T_{1}^{H} - (T_{1}^{x} + T_{2}^{x})(T_{1}^{H} + T_{2}^{H})}{P_{1}W_{1}} \right] p_{1}x_{1} \cdot \theta$$

$$+\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{Hp} \left[\frac{T_{1}^{x}T_{1}^{H} - (T_{1}^{x} + T_{2}^{x})(T_{1}^{H} + T_{2}^{H})}{P_{1}W_{1}} \right] W_{1}H_{1} \cdot \theta$$

$$+\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{Hw} \left[\frac{(T_{1}^{H})^{2} - (T_{1}^{H} + T_{2}^{H})^{2}}{W_{1}^{2}} \right] W_{1}H_{1} \cdot \theta$$

(1)

where

 ϵ_{xp} = own price elasticity of fossil fuel demand ϵ_{xw} = cross price elasticity of fossil fuel demand with respect to after tax wages. ϵ_{Hp} = elasticity of labor supply with respect to prices of fossil fuels. ϵ_{HW} = elasticity of labor supply with respect to after tax wages. p_1 = composite price of fossil fuels before carbon tax. X_1 = quantity of annual consumption of fossil fuels before carbon tax. W₁ = after tax hourly wages before revenue neutral labor income tax change. H_1 = manhours of labor per year. θ = share of fossil fuel expenditures to total expenditures. T_1^X = pre-existing unit taxes on fossil fuels. $T_2^{\boldsymbol{X}}$ = unit carbon tax (US\$10/ton). T_1^H = pre-existing labor income taxes per manhour. T_2^H = reduction in per manhour labor income taxes.

The first term in the expression above captures the direct effect of higher fossil fuel prices on fossil fuel consumption. The two middle terms are the indirect effects (cross effects) of higher

after tax wages on fossil fuel consumption and higher fossil fuel prices (lower real wages) on labor supply. The fourth term captures the direct effect of higher after tax wages on labor supply. The key parameters needed for the evaluation of this expression are: hours worked per year; current labor income tax rate; prices of energy products; quantity of energy consumption; current tax rate on energy; carbon tax rate (per unit of energy); elasticity of labor supply; and elasticity of energy demand. The data required to calculate these parameters for India, Indonesia, Pakistan, USA and Japan were collected from a variety of sources. Table 3.4 presents data on carbon emissions, carbon prices and energy taxes for the sample countries and Table 3.5 reports a summary of results on welfare effects based on the above model. These calculations suggests that replacement of personal income tax by an equal yield \$10/ton carbon tax represents a welfare deteriorating proposition in the sample countries. Estimates of the welfare loss (compensating variations) range from a low of 1.5 cents per dollar of carbon tax revenues in Indonesia to a high of 17.5 cents per dollar in Pakistan. On economic efficiency considerations alone, therefore, carbon taxes cannot be supported as a replacement for personal income taxes. The difference in the welfare costs of a US\$10 carbon tax arise primarily from variations in elasticity values (quite similar for our sample countries), pre-existing fossil fuel taxes, labor income taxes, carbon prices (i.e., market value of total fossil fuel consumption divided by carbon emissions) and energy price changes from the carbon tax. The price of carbon, a key parameter in the welfare cost calculations, is a function not just of fossil fuel prices, but also of the types and mix of fossil fuels consumed. A country that is a large consumer of coal will have a low price of carbon relative to a country that is a large consumer of natural gas or oil, even if the latter has the same level of fossil fuel prices. The relatively low welfare loss indicated for Indonesia is primarily attributable to lower levels of energy taxation in Indonesia, and the relatively large loss for Pakistan is due to high pre-existing energy taxes. In the case of Japan, the welfare loss is substantially lower than for Pakistan despite high pre-existing energy taxes. This results from the high price of carbon in Japan, which implies the percentage increase in energy prices due to the US\$10 carbon tax will be low. The welfare loss for India compares well with that for the U.S., even though pre-existing taxes in India are much lower (see Tables 3.4 and 3.5). This is because the price of carbon in India is only half of the price in the U.S -- the result of India's high consumption of coal.

The welfare gain associated with the direct effect of lower labor income tax on labor supply is very small for India, Indonesia and Pakistan (at most 0.5% of the total welfare loss), because labor income taxes are low relative to wage income in these countries. Higher labor income taxes make the equivalent effect substantially larger in the U.S and Japan (20% and 15% respectively). For the first three countries, the indirect effects are small but positive, which indicates that the positive effect of higher real wages on energy consumption that results from the lowering of labor income taxes, dominates the negative effect of higher energy prices on labor supply. Again this is caused by low initial labor income taxes. In absolute terms, the indirect effects are negative and larger for the U.S. and Japan. This is because the negative effect of higher real wages associated with income tax reductions, and because the initial effective taxation of labor income is higher in the U.S. and Japan than in developing countries. These results imply that analyses which ignore pre-existing taxes will be in error, and could consequently result in possibly quite misleading policy advice. The difference in measured

Table 3.4 Carbon Emissions, Carbon Prices and Energy Taxes in Selected Countries, 1987

.

.

Country	Carbon Emissions (Million tons)	Carbon Price (\$/ton)	Energy Taxes (\$/ton)
India	148.2	117	10.69
Indonesia	26.6	200	0.00
Pakistan	13.2	253	65.13
USA	1246.1	198	26.64
Japan	237.1	538	104.80

Sources:

.

-

Carbon emissions -	World Resources Institute (1990)
Carbon price -	Authors' calculations based on data from Asia Development Bank and Energy Information Administration
Energy taxes -	Authors' calculations based on data from International Energy Agency.

A.]	Revenue Neutral Change by Equal Yield Reduction in Personal Income Tax	Million US\$	Million US\$	% of Carbon Tax Revenues	% of Total <u>Revenues</u>	% GDP
A .]	Revenue Neutral Change by Equal Yield Reduction in Personal Income Tax	<u>US\$</u>	<u>US\$</u>	Tax Revenues	Revenues	
A .]	Revenue Neutral Change by Equal Yield Reduction in Personal Income Tax					
	India	1482	-129	-8.7	-0.39	-0.06
	Indonesia	266	-4	-1 5	-0.03	-0.005
	Pakistan	132	-23	-17.5	-0.39	-0.07
	USA	12461	-1049	-8.4	-0.11	-0.02
	Japan	2371	-269	-11.4	-0.07	-0.008
B . 1	Revenue Neutral Change by Equal Yield Reductions in Corporate Income Tax					
	India	1482	+250	+16.9	+0.8	+0.11
	Indonesia	266	+23	+8.7	+0.2	+0.03
	Pakistan	132	+12	+9.0	+0.2	+0.04
	USA	12461	-773	-6.2	-0.08	-0.017
	Japan	2371	+213	+9.0	+0.06	+0.007
C. 1	Raising Additional Revenues with NO Change in Existing Taxes					
	India	1482	-130	-8.8	-0.40	-0.06
	Indonesia	266	-4	-1.5	-0.03	-0.005
	Pakistan	132	-23	-17.7	-0.40	-0.07
	USA	12461	-1269	-10.2	-0.14	-0.03
	Japan	2371	-291	-12.3	-0.08	-0.009
D. I I t	Raising Additional Revenues with NO Change in Existing Taxes put Accounting for Subsidies					
	India	1482	0	0	0	0
	Indonesia	266	+1	+0.4	+0.01	+0.005
	Pakistan	132	-23	-17.7	-0.40	-0.07
	USA	12461	-1269	-10.2	-0.14	-0.03
	Japan	2371	-291	-12.3	-0.08	-0.009

Table 3.5 Summary of Welfare Effects of a \$10/ton Carbon Tax, 1987

Source: Calculations based on the models presented in Appendix A.

.

-

welfare costs can be substantial if pre-existing taxes are high, as is the case for Pakistan. If these pre-existing taxes were to be ignored, one would obtain for Pakistan fairly low estimates for the welfare costs of carbon taxes, similar to those for Indonesia. For India, the welfare costs of carbon taxes in a no tax case scenario, would then be twice the level of Pakistan and Indonesia (since, due to the Indian use of inexpensive coal, carbon prices in India are nearly half of those in Pakistan and Indonesia.)

Case B: Revenue Neutral Introduction of a \$10/Ton Carbon tax by Equal Yield Reductions in the Corporate Income Tax. Feldstein's (1978) model is adapted to derive the following expression for the welfare costs of taxation (see Appendix A, Case B for details):

$$L^{N} = -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{xp} \left[\frac{(T_{1}^{x})^{2} - (T_{1}^{x} + T_{2}^{x})^{2}}{(p_{1})^{2}} \right] p_{1} X_{1}$$

- $(\eta_{sr}/r_{1}T + 1 - \sigma) \left[\frac{T_{1}^{x}T_{1}^{R} - (T_{1}^{x} + T_{2}^{x})(T_{1}^{R} + T_{2}^{R})}{p_{1}p_{1}^{R}} \right] p_{1}^{R} R_{1} \theta$ (2)
+ $\frac{1}{2} (\eta_{sr}/r_{1}T + 1 - \sigma) \left[\frac{(T_{1}^{R})^{2} - (T_{1}^{R} + T_{2}^{R})}{(p_{1}^{R})^{2}} \right] p_{1}^{R} R_{1}$

where

 η_{sr} = elasticity of corporate savings with respect to after tax rate of return.

 r_1 = after corporate tax rate of return on corporate savings.

T = number of years from time of savings to dis-saving.

- σ = marginal propensity to save.
- T_1^R = pre-existing unit tax on consumption in the period of dis-saving; i.e. unit tax on return on corporate savings.

 T_2^R = reduction in unit tax on return on corporate savings.

- p_1^R = after corporate tax discounted price of consumption in period of dissaving, i.e. after tax price of savings.
- R_1 = savings in real terms such that $p_1^R R_1$ = nominal after tax value of savings.

The first term portrays welfare loss associated with a \$10/ton carbon tax, and is equivalent to the corresponding term in Case A. The second term captures the interaction of reductions in corporate income taxes and a simultaneous increase in carbon taxes. An increase in the after tax price of energy products is likely to affect the consumption of energy products, and a reduction in after tax return on savings is likely to affect savings decisions. This term could

be either positive or negative. The third term represents the welfare gain associated with a reduction in corporate income taxes. Corporate income may be considered as a return on savings, i.e. on a firm's total assets or shareholders' equity. Thus the third term captures the welfare effects of changes in after tax rate of return on savings in the corporate sector. Corporate income taxes induce intertemporal inefficiencies by reducing savings and increasing current consumption. Key parameters needed for the evaluation of this expression include: energy and retirement (future) consumption expenditures and prices, taxes on energy and retirement consumption, savings, marginal propensity to save out of exogenous income, uncompensated elasticity of savings with respect to after tax rate of return, and price elasticity of energy demand. These parameter values are obtained from a variety of sources. The model's results, presented in Table 3.5, suggest that, with the major exception of the U.S., an equal yield introduction of carbon taxes in part replacement of corporate income tax would uniformly represent a welfare-improving proposition for the sample countries. The estimated net welfare gain varies from a high of 0.11% of GDP for India, to a low of 0.007% of GDP for Japan. These positive net welfare effects lend support to the widely-supported view that corporate income taxes are far more distortionary than labor income taxes.

For the U.S., the revenue-neutral introduction of a 10/ton carbon tax to replace corporate tax revenues is, in contrast to the above, a welfare-deteriorating proposition. The welfare loss is estimated to equal 6.2% of carbon tax revenues or 0.017% of GDP. The effect is due to lower marginal taxation of corporate income in the USA in comparison with other sample countries.

Case C: Raising Additional Revenues From Carbon Taxes With No Change in Existing Taxes. The following expression for the evaluation of net welfare captures the direct effect of carbon taxes on energy demand through price increases, and also their indirect effect through reduced real wages -- the latter being associated with an increase in consumption taxation.¹

$$L^{N} = -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{xp} \left[\frac{(T_{1}^{x})^{2} - (T_{1}^{x} + T_{2}^{x})^{2}}{(p_{1})^{2}} \right] p_{1} X_{1}$$

$$- \epsilon_{HW} \left[\frac{-T_{2}^{x} T_{1}^{H}}{p_{1} W_{1}} \right] W_{1} H_{1} \theta$$
(3)

The key elasticity parameters required for the evaluation of the above expression are the demand elasticities for fossil fuels and supply elasticity for labor. The results presented in Table 3.5 suggest that although the welfare costs of carbon taxes are significant, they represent only a small fraction of carbon tax revenues. Estimates for the sample countries range from a low of 1.5 cents per dollar for Indonesia (0.005% of GDP), to a high of 17.7 cents per dollar for Pakistan (0.07% of GDP). The welfare losses for India, Indonesia and Pakistan are only slightly higher than those obtained in case A. This is because, given very ineffective pre-existing labor

¹ For a formal derivation, see Appendix A, Case C.

income taxes and substantial tax evasion, the direct welfare effect of labor income tax reductions is very small for these countries. The difference in the two cases is larger for the U.S and Japan because of higher pre-existing labor income taxes and levels of tax compliance. Poterba (1991) finds a much lower welfare loss for the US (average welfare costs of 3 cents per dollar of carbon tax revenues, or about 0.01% of GDP) in the revenue increase scenario by assuming no pre-existing taxes and no wage effects from carbon taxes. Thus levels of pre-existing taxes (on energy, income etc.) are critical in the estimation of the overall welfare effects associated with tax changes. Calculations that ignore these effects will understate the welfare cost of tax policy changes.

Case D: Raising Additional Revenues From Carbon Taxes With No Change in Existing Taxes but Accounting for Subsidies. The efficiency costs of carbon taxes will be over-stated if, as in Cases A through C, subsidies are ignored. An efficient energy pricing policy calls for price to equal long run marginal cost (in the case of no externalities). Thus it is interesting to re-evaluate this welfare calculation by recognizing existing subsidies (Larsen and Shah 1992). For the sake of simplicity, only the welfare cost of the carbon tax's direct effect on fossil fuel consumption is calculated, and the indirect effect on labor supply of higher fossil fuel prices is ignored. This is justified because the indirect effect on labor supply is less than 1% of total welfare costs. In order to calculate the welfare cost, petroleum products, natural gas and coal are considered separately and the same own price elasticity of demand is applied to all product groups. Furthermore, the welfare calculation ignores the substitution effect between coal and petroleum products in cases A-C, thus overstating true welfare costs.

Significant fossil fuel subsidies exist in India and Indonesia. The price of coal in India was only 85% of long run marginal cost in 1990 (Bates and Moore, 1991), implying a 15% subsidy. By (conservatively) assuming a similar level of subsidy in 1987, the year used here for welfare calculations, a US\$10 carbon tax leads to an approximately 26% increase in the price of coal at 1987 prices. Thus a large proportion of the tax acts to remove the subsidy and should be considered a welfare gain. The welfare cost of the carbon tax on petroleum products and natural gas is estimated to be equal to the welfare gain of the subsidy removal on coal. The overall welfare effect of a US\$10 carbon tax is therefore approximately zero, rather than the -8.8% of carbon tax revenues in Case C. Similarly, petroleum products in Indonesia are priced significantly below world prices -- approximately 35% lower in 1987. Following the same approach as for India, the carbon tax on petroleum products in Indonesia represents a welfare gain, although it is too small to eliminate the subsidies completely. The welfare gain is larger than the welfare costs of the carbon tax on coal and natural gas. Thus, in comparison with Case C's welfare loss of -1.5%, the net effect is a small welfare gain of 0.4% of carbon tax revenues. This section illustrates not only that are pre-existing taxes critical in estimating the welfare effects of carbon taxes, but that many subsidies are also. Calculations that ignore subsidies will over-state the welfare costs of tax policy changes.

In conclusion, the case for carbon taxes on efficiency considerations alone depends on whether they are introduced in a revenue-neutral manner, whether they replace corporate income taxes, and whether fossil fuel subsidies exist. According to the calculations presented here, such taxes do not fare so well against personal income taxes, at least for countries with pre-existing energy taxes and no subsidies. Clearly, however, an overall assessment of carbon taxes must therefore consider their impact on greenhouse gases and local pollutants, as well as on industrial performance and economic growth. These issues are taken up next.

4.0 The Impact of Carbon Taxes on Greenhouse Gases and Local Pollutants

Through their impact on aggregate use and composition of fossil fuel consumption, carbon taxes may reduce the emissions of local and regional pollutants such as nitrous oxides (NOx), carbon monoxides (CO), particulates (PM) and sulphur dioxides (SO₂) as well as carbon emissions. This section deals with the impact of carbon taxes on NOx, SO₂ and PM emissions. These extent of these latter three emission types depend on technology, combustion processes and sulphur content of fossil fuels; emission coefficients therefore vary greatly across sectors and countries. The data on emissions are derived here from available sectoral emission coefficients and sectoral fossil fuel consumption (OECD 1989, and Radian Corporation 1990). Table 4.1 illustrates the impact of a US\$ 10 carbon tax on fossil fuel prices, and on CO₂, SO₂, NOx and PM emissions for selected countries.

The impact of the carbon tax on CO_2 , SO_2 , NOx and PM depends on the percentage increase in the end-user price of each fuel, in addition to the price elasticity of demand and emission coefficients. It is calculated as follows:

$$Z = \Sigma_{ij} e^{Z}_{ij} \delta Q_{ij} = \Sigma_{ij} e^{Z}_{ij} Q_{ij} \epsilon_{ij} \delta p_{ij} / p_{ij}$$
(4)

where: Z is tons of reductions in CO₂, SO₂ or NOx; i are sectors; j are fuels (coal, natural gas and petroleum products); $e^{Z_{ij}}$ is the emission coefficient of Z for fuel j in sector i; Q_{ij} is consumption of fuel j in sector i; ϵ_{ij} is the own price elasticity for fuel j in sector i; and $\delta p_{ij}/p_{ij}$ is the percentage increase in price of fuel j in sector i from the carbon tax. Interfuel substitutions are ignored.

The elasticity of energy demand, being fairly similar across all the sample countries, does not contribute to the cross country differences in emission reductions. The price of coal shows the largest increases primarily because of the low price of coal per ton. The

increases for petroleum products and natural gas are only marginal in comparison because of their much higher current prices per ton. India shows the highest estimated emission reductions principally because coal is the predominant fossil fuel in consumption; it experiences relatively large reductions due to the high price increase induced by the carbon tax. Reductions are lowest in Japan because of high pre-existing energy prices that induce very low price increases from the carbon tax and thus low reductions in fossil fuel consumption. SO₂ emission reductions are highest in Pakistan because most such emissions are from high sulphur (5-6%) coal. SO₂ emission reductions are also quite high in the United States because of the large share of coal in consumption. Because of low coal use, Indonesia experiences relatively modest emission reductions in the other pollutants.

A benefit-cost analysis of a US\$10 carbon tax can now be made by comparing the welfare losses (Table 3.5) of a revenue-increasing carbon tax (with no reductions in either labor

	Pakistan	Indonesia	India	United States	Japan
Fossil fuel consumption (million local currency)	58209	8793837	222744	246502	15759000
Carbon (C) emissions (million tons)	13.2	26.6	148.2	1246.1	237.1
Price of carbon (per ton): Local Currency	4409	330595	1503	198	66465
US\$	253	200	117	198	538
Energy Taxes (US\$/ton of carbon)	65.13	0.0	10.69	26.64	104.80
Carbon tax (US\$/ton)	10	10	10	10	10
Carbon tax (local currency/ton)	174	16500	129	10	1235
Elasticity of energy demand	-0.64	-0.6	-0.651	-0.6	-0.55
Price increase (from carbon tax) of					
coal	37.8%	17.5%	26.2%	18.3%	8.7%
petroleum products	3.2%	5.8%	2.3%	3.4%	0.159
natural gas	2.6%	4.4%	3.0%	4.3%	1.4%
Emissions of (000 tons)					
PM	44	87	1192	6478	463
SO2	321	337	2207	17900	1600
NOX	203	434	2090	17400	1400
Emission reductions (%)					
C	-4.5%	-3.9%	-13.3%	-5.3%	-1.6%
PM	-11.6%	-5.0%	-15.3%	-7.8%	-0.6%
SO2	-19.1%	-4.6%	-15.9%	-10.0%	-2.3%
NOX	-3.8%	-3.8%	-11.9%	-5.6%	-1.2%
(1) Welfare cost of a US\$ 10 per ton carbon tax					
(revenue increasing tax) million US\$ (Table 3.5)	-23	-4	-130	-1270	-292
(2) Cost of carbon (C) reductions (US\$/ton) (1) divided by tons of C reductions	38.7	3.9	6.6	13.8	78.9
(3) Price level (GDP/Penn GDP 1987)	0.23	0.35	0.34	1	1.55
(4) Benefit-cost ratio* High (SO2+NOX+PM)	1.8	17.9	9.5	11.2	1.3
Medium (SO2+NOX+PM)	1.6	12.9	7.5	8.7	1.0
Low (SO2+NOX+PM)	0.5	2.2	1.9	2.1	0.2

Table 4.1

Costs and Benefits of Carbon Taxes for Selected Countries, 1987

* "High" is based on Glomsrod et al (1990); "Medium" is based on Bernow and Marron (1990); "Low" is based on EPA/Energy and Resource Consultants, Inc. referenced in Repetto (1990).

Source: Authors' calculations

22

	NOx	SO2	РМ	
Glomernd et al * ("High")	10300	1400	3300	-
Bernow and Marron ("Medium")	6500	1500	4000	
EPA/Energy and Resource Consultants ("Low")	230	637	2550	

Table 4.2 Marginal Benefits of NOx, S0, and PM Reductions (US \$/ton)

* The first study is for Norway and the two last for the United States.

Source: Glomsrod et al (1990), Bernow and Marron (1990), Repetto (1990).

income taxes or corporate income tax) with the benefits of emission reductions. Welfare cost calculations are for the case which does not account for subsidies. Thus welfare costs are substantially overstated for both India and Indonesia. Benefits are estimated given only SO2, NOx and PM emission reductions; no attempt is made to estimate the benefits of reductions in emissions of CO₂, CO, lead and ground level ozone. The monetary value of emission reductions for any of these gases will be highly uncertain, in part because the damage emissions cause depends on: the aggregate level of emissions, climatic and topographic conditions, population density around emission sources and on concentration levels of the pollutant. The main monetary benefits per reduced ton of SO2, NOx and PM emissions, come from improvements in health and reduced corrosion (see Table 4.2, for results from three independent studies). Glomsrod et al (1990) and Bernow and Marron (1990) report the highest estimates based on their studies for Norway and the United States, respectively. EPA/Energy and Resource Consultants Inc. report (for the United States) significantly lower benefits, in particular for NOx. This low benefit estimate for NOx may result from excluding chronic health effects. Benefit figures are adjusted by Penn GDP relative Purchasing Power Parity indices (Summers and Heston, 1991) for each sample country, thereby allowing more meaningful cross-country comparisons. Note that this procedure assumes a degree of transferability for different countries' externality measures that is unlikely to be satisfied in practice; estimates of such measures are therefore likely to be crude at best.

Notwithstanding the above caveat, the comparison of costs and benefits (Table 4.1) suggests that, on local environmental grounds alone, Indonesia, India and the United States can benefit substantially from a carbon tax. Benefits exceed costs by a ratio of more than 7 in two cases, and approximately 2 in the case of the lowest benefit estimates. In the case of Pakistan and Japan, because of high pre-existing energy taxes and thus high a welfare cost for carbon taxes, the benefit-cost ratio is significantly lower, although still greater than one.

It is important to note that, although the monetary benefits of emission reductions are uncertain, there emission reductions have additional benefits that are not accounted for here as already mentioned. Furthermore, welfare losses are based on the worst-case scenario of a revenue-increasing carbon tax not compensated for by a reduction in other taxes. Last, but not least, significant energy subsidies in India and Indonesia are not incorporated in the welfare calculations, which consequently overstate welfare losses.

Note also that these benefit-cost ratios do not depend on the price elasticity of demand for fossil fuels, which is assumed identical for each fuel. Both the welfare costs of carbon taxes and the quantity of emission reductions are proportional to that elasticity parameter, which is therefore canceled out in the ratio of benefits and costs. The latter depends primarily on preexisting taxes on fossil fuels (which affects welfare costs) and on the valuation of emission reductions of SO_2 and NOx in both relative and absolute terms. Furthermore, the calculations presented here do not attempt to identify least-cost policies for local pollutant reduction. They merely quantify various additional benefits from carbon taxes that are frequently ignored in the literature.

One means of accounting for the non-uniformity of emission externality costs across countries is to adjust the benefits of emission reductions for variations in population density and rural/urban population ratio. Here, an equal weight is applied to population density and urbanization. In consequence, benefits are larger by an average factor of two for Pakistan, Indonesia and India. Thus the benefit-cost ratio is larger than one for Pakistan even when lowest benefit estimates are used. For Japan, benefits are as much as twelve times higher. This is the result of a very high population density, which brings the ratio to 2.4 in the case of lowest benefit estimates and to as much as 14 in the case of highest benefit estimates. In this circumstance, Japan would benefit even more from a carbon tax than the United States.

A cost analysis of carbon reductions is also illustrated in Table 4.1. The cost of carbon reductions is stated in terms of the welfare costs of a revenue-increasing US \$10/ton carbon tax, divided by tons of carbon reductions. The large cost differences across countries are caused mostly by differences in pre-existing energy taxes (high pre-existing energy taxes implying high welfare costs) and percentage carbon emission reductions. To illustrate this point, the cost of carbon reductions may be stated as follows:

$$C = (W/R)(R/E) = (W/R)(t^*C_e/E) = W/E$$
(5)

where: C is the cost per ton of carbon reductions; W is the total welfare cost of the carbon tax; R is total carbon tax revenues; E is tons of carbon emission reductions; t is the carbon tax rate (US 10/ton); and C_e is the total tons of carbon emissions (thus C_e/E is the reciprocal of percentage carbon emission reductions). Equation (5) reveals that C is high if welfare cost per tax revenue dollar (W/R) is high (Table 3.5, C), and/or if percentage carbon emission reduction is low (Table 2.2). The cost per ton of carbon emission reduction is lowest for Indonesia, even though percentage emission reduction is low. This is because of virtually non-existent energy taxes, which imply very low welfare costs per tax revenue dollar. Cost per ton is highest in Japan because of the combination of high welfare costs per tax revenue dollar and very low percentage emission reductions. The results in Table 4.1 also suggest that optimal carbon taxes

are not uniform across countries because of different levels of pre-existing energy taxes and impact on local pollutants.

The preceding analyses of fossil fuel consumption and emission reductions considers only aggregate fuel reductions and not interfuel substitution. But since a carbon tax may induce significant interfuel substitutions, it is to be expected that the estimated emission reductions in Table 4.1 are overstated, given own-price elasticities. However, allowing for interfuel substitution would reduce the welfare costs of the carbon tax, such that the overall ratio of benefits to costs would most probably be only marginally affected.

In conclusion, the above analysis suggests that a carbon tax has significant benefits in terms of both local pollutant and CO_2 reductions. A monetary benefit-cost analysis indicates that, for countries with low or non-existent energy taxes, a carbon tax can be justified on local environmental grounds alone, even ignoring its benefits from a public finance viewpoint.

5.0 Carbon Taxes, Industrial Performance and Economic Growth

Carbon taxes by changing the relative prices of inputs can impact on the production, financing and investment decisions of firms. In this section, the Bernstein-Shah dynamic model of production structure (forthcoming) is used to examine the impact of carbon taxes on the economic performance of Pakistan's apparel and leather products industries (1966-84). Several features of this dynamic model are noteworthy.

The costs of adjustment are treated as internal to the firm and are explicitly modelled. These capital adjustment costs imply that capital input does not necessarily attain its long-run desired level within any one contemporaneous period. The model formulation allows for estimation of this speed of adjustment. Investment in capital results in some foregone output in the short run. The model distinguishes short run, intermediate run and long run effects of tax policy initiatives. These effects are influenced by the varying degree of capital adjustment. The model also treats the determination of output supplies, variable and guasi-fixed input demands simultaneously. Thus both the direct and indirect effects of tax policy changes are captured in the model. Moreover, the dynamic nature of the model allows for direct and indirect effects to be estimated in all three runs of production. In addition to the explicit modelling of adjustment costs, the Bernstein-Shah model incorporates several features of producer behavior which are absent from the Jorgenson-Wilcoxen framework. Output supply is endogenous and not solely a function of factor demand or of investment. Furthermore, product markets are not assumed purely competitive and the nature of firm interdependence, as measured by the conjectural elasticity parameter, governs the structure of product markets. Finally, the model recognizes financial capital market imperfections as firms are constrained by the rate of return that can be earned on their financial capital. Rates of return on equity and debt capital are treated as exogenous to firm's behavior, and cannot therefore be influenced by shareholders. Under such circumstances, the interest of owners is best served by maximizing the expected present value of the flow of funds to shareholders and bondholders. In other words, the firm's objective function is to maximize the expected present value of financial capital. The above mentioned product and financial market imperfections are germane to most developing countries.

		Ou	<u>n Price El</u>	asticities Aggregate	Carbon Ta	x Elasticities	Im	pact of a U	S\$10/ton	<u>Carbon Em</u> Apparel &	issions reductions
		Apparel	Leather	manufacturing	Apparel	Leather_	Apparel	<u>Leather</u>	manufacturing	Leather	manufacturing
	Y				-0.00081	-0.00098	-0.032%	-0.039%	-0.205%		
	L				-0.00086	-0.00090	-0.034%	-0.036%	-0.137%		
Short Run	Μ	-1.521	-0.979	-0.514	-0.00193	-0.00133	-0.076%	-0.053%	-0.482%	-4.8%	-7.6%
	K				-0.00052	-0.00072	-0.021%	-0.028%	0.499%		
	Y				-0.00111	-0.00145	-0.044%	-0.057%			
	L				-0.00108	-0.00147	-0.043%	-0.058%			
Intermediate Run	M	-1.402	-1.135	-	-0.00178	-0.00154	-0.070%	-0.061%		-4.9%	-
	K			•	0.00085	-0.00121	-0.034%	-0.048%			
	Y				-0.00220	-0.00272	-0.087%	-0.107%			
	L				-0.00198	-0.00307	-0.079%	-0.121%			
Long Run	М	-2.461	-2.879	-	-0.00313	-0.00392	-0.124%	-0.155%		-10.4%	-
U	К				0.00201	-0.00255	-0.079%	-0.101%			
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·								·····	
Notations: Y =	Outp	ut									
L =	Man	Years worl	ked								
M =	Inter	mediate Inj	puts								
K =	Capit	al stock									

.

26

Impact of Carbon Taxes on Pakistan's Industries Application of Bernstein-Shah Dynamic Variable Profits Model and Shah-Baffes Dynamic Flexible Accelerator Model **Table 5.1**

Source: Model Results

	Pulsistani Annumi G.Y. author Industria				
	<u>rakistani</u> Short run	Intermediate run	Long run	Pakistani Aggregate Manufacutring Industries	
Output effect (%)	-0.035%	-0.051%	-0.098%	-0.205%	
Output effect					
(in 000 US\$)	-102	-148	-284	-20900	
Value added effect					
(in 000 US\$)	<u>-19.1</u>	<u>-27.3</u>	<u>-52.3</u>	<u>-6650</u>	
Emission Reductions (%)*					
NOX	-4.9%	-5.0%	-10.5%	-7.4%	
SO2	-4.7%	-4.8%	-10.2%	-18.4%	
PM	-4.8%	-4.9%	-10.3%	-12.9%	
C02	-4.8%	-4.9%	-10.4%	-7.6%	
Cost of CO2 reductions - US\$/to	n				
(loss of value added divided by tons of CO2 reductions)	44.2	61.9	55.9	14.5	
Benefit-Cost Ratios associated with the impact of a US \$10 carbon tax on value added and local pollutants **					
High	2.5	1.8	1.9	3.9	
Medium	1.6	1.1	1.2	3.5	
Low	0.09	0.06	0.07	1.1	

Table 5.2 Impact of a US \$10 Carbon Tax on Manufacturing Value Added and Local Externalities

* Emission reductions are percentage of emissions from the Apparal and Leather industries or from total manufacturaing industries.

** Includes sulfur dioxides (SO2), nitrous oxides (NOx) and particulate matters (PM). "High" is based on Glomsrod et al (1990); "Medium" is based on Bernow and Marron (1990); "Low" is based on EPA/Energy and Resource Consultants, Inc. The last study does not include chronic health effects of NOx emissions.

Source: Model based calculations

PAKISTAN

Accounting for them, thus adds a sense of realism to the analysis of producer responses in these countries.

The estimation model is characterized by an after tax normalized shadow variable profit function, output supply and input demand and capital input demand equations. The model fits the data quite well. Furthermore, estimated parameters satisfy the conditions that the after tax shadow variable profit function be concave in capital and net investment and convex in prices.

Table 5.1 provides estimates of carbon tax elasticities with respect to input demands and output supply in the short, intermediate and long runs. These tax elasticities are then used to calculate carbon tax effects at mean sample values. A 10/ton carbon tax on the apparel and leather industries leads to reductions in output and input demands in all periods, with the leather industry experiencing slightly higher reductions in output than the apparel industry. This difference is primarily attributable to the slightly higher energy intensity of the leather industry. Long run output impacts are (-)0.09% for apparel and (-)0.11% for leather goods, both of which are higher than intermediate and short run impacts. Higher adverse effects in the long run arise because the model estimation suggests energy inputs serve as complements to both labor and capital in the two industries.

To examine the same effects for manufacturing industries in Pakistan overall, a flexible accelerator type dynamic factor demand model developed by Shah and Baffes is implemented using time series data for the period 1956 to 1985. This model employs a flexible and non-restrictive technology and captures the short run divergence of fixed factors from their equilibrium values as well as the speed of such adjustment. Parameter estimates from the model suggest some pairwise substitutability among energy (materials) inputs and capital and labor. The model results suggest that the imposition of a \$10 per ton carbon tax on Pakistani manufacturing industry will result in an output loss of 0.21% in the short run (see Table 5.1).² The primary reason for larger output losses in aggregate manufacturing than in the apparel and leather industries is the substantial impact of the carbon tax on the price of coal. Coal is used primarily in industries other than apparel and leather. Thus energy prices for aggregate manufacturing increase substantially more than for the apparel and leather industries.

A comparison of value added losses with the health benefits of reductions in local externalities throws some (albeit limited) light on the cost-benefit calculus of carbon taxes. Table 5.2 reports estimates of costs associated with carbon taxes, as well as benefits arising from a reduction in local externalities. Data limitations restrict the analysis to NOx, SO₂ and particulate matter (PM) only. The dollar values on local externalities are based on the same three studies used in Section 4.0, adjusted for purchasing power parity. Benefit to cost ratios are higher for aggregate manufacturing than for the apparel and leather industries because relatively large emission reductions from reduced consumption of high sulfur coal more than offsets the higher loss of value added. Ratios are larger than one except in the case with the lowest benefit estimates for the apparel and leather industries. These tentative calculations suggest that losses of value added are offset by health benefits associated with NOx, SO₂ and PM emission reductions, even if the reduction in global externalities associated with curtailing CO_2 emissions is completely ignored. Table 5.2 also reports estimates for the average cost of

² Jorgenson-Wilcoxen (1990) obtain -0.5% long run output effect for the U.S. for a \$15.45/ton carbon tax

carbon reductions associated with a US \$10/ton carbon tax in terms of US\$/ton of carbon reductions, ignoring the benefits of reductions in local externalities. Calculations suggest that such costs are higher in the apparel and leather industries. The is primarily because total carbon emissions relative to value added in these two industries are much lower than in the overall manufacturing sector, while model results suggest that the elasticity of output or value added with respect to energy prices is only slightly lower. Thus losses of value added relative to carbon emission reductions are higher in the apparel and leather industries.

6.0 Tradeable Permits

.

Tradeable emissions permits represent an alternative instrument that can ensure marginal costs of emission reductions are equalized across domestic sources and across countries. Given both perfectly competitive markets and certainty, permits are equivalent to emissions taxes (see Hoel 1990). Tradeable permits afford direct control over quantities of emissions as opposed to a carbon tax regime's indirect influence through prices. They are also easier to implement as an initial allocation of such permits reduces the resistance of existing emitters. Furthermore, tradeable permits in terms of their regulatory effects are more transparent to policy makers and administrators (see Oates and Portney, 1991). Tradeable permits have also been cited for their potential as a hedging instrument against risk and a vehicle for international technology transfer.

Epstein and Gupta (1990) have argued that tradeable permits could serve as an instrument to reduce the risk of investing in backstop technology R&D. They argue that agents or nations that invest in R&D are exposed to a high probability of failure, although also to high profits in the event of success. If R&D investments turn out a successful technology that significantly reduces the costs of carbon emission reductions, the price of emissions permits will fall. If the investments yield no return the price of permits is expected to rise. This means that risk averse investors can purchase futures on emission permits³ as a hedging against risk. In this case, total investments in R&D can be expected to be higher than if a market for emission permits did not exist. One could further argue that carbon taxes would also induce higher levels of investment if tax revenues were pooled (fully, or in part) in an R&D fund or used to subsidize R&D. A closer analysis of the effectiveness of these alternatives seems appropriate given potential gains from the development of backstop technology.

Emissions permits will induce international technology transfers if initial emissions allocations are such that industrialized countries will purchase emissions permits from developing countries. If this is the case, developing countries may purchase more energy efficient technology from industrialized countries until the marginal benefit is equal to the permit price. This transfer could potentially be quite substantial and significant for developing countries. Its magnitude depends on the costs of emission reductions and initial permit allocations (Larsen and Shah 1992b). If costs of emission reductions are high (after some smaller initial reductions) in industrialized countries, then developing countries will want to purchase more emissions permits from developing countries than if costs are low. This would imply larger revenue accumulations

³ According to the New York Times, the Chicago Board of Trade will create a private market for trading in sulfur dioxide emission permits and forward contracts, and a futures market is also considered.

in developing countries which could be used to purchase more energy efficient technology. Technology transfers may turn out to be significant for developing countries because, in addition to reducing energy dependency, new capital embodies technological progress and thus contributes to increased total factor productivity. Total factor productivity gains are considered an important component for economic growth and improved international competitiveness.

In practice, tradeable permits are subject to important limitations. These include: the "thinness" of permit markets, the presence of large buyers and sellers, and lack of any mechanism to deal with overshooting the mark. In the U.S., it is observed that the main reason the permit markets are not as well-functioning as envisioned is the "thinness" of the market, especially on the supply side, that is largely due to trading restrictions and unclear definitions of property rights. When permits are infrequently traded, clear price signals are absent, thereby impairing the functioning of the permit system. On the other hand, a carbon tax is in itself a clear measure of the cost of emissions.

To avoid ill-functioning permit markets, the number of potential traders should be sufficiently large. In the case of carbon emission permits, an insufficient number of traders may be avoided by integrating international (inter-country) and domestic markets. Market power is then eliminated and sufficient liquidity provided, especially if the market is open to outside parties as well as "emitters". In this case, any agent -- a producer or consumer -- obtains emission permits at a price quoted at trading boards, in much the same way as foreign exchange is traded and rates are quoted in international markets.

There are alternative market arrangements, although an international (inter-country) market seems a minimum requirement because the costs of emission reduction can be expected to differ substantially across countries. Emission permits, traded internationally, allow marginal costs of reduction to be equalized across nations. Permits may be traded independently within nations so that marginal costs are equalized across domestic sources. It is also possible that permits will only be traded internationally and that carbon taxes will be used domestically. Alternatively, some countries may use emissions permits to reduce domestic emissions while other countries use taxes. In the latter case, there may be separate international and domestic permit markets. Any market arrangement that reduces the number of traders below that in a globally integrated market is exposed to the danger of market inefficiencies (market power, illiquidity). However, the transactions costs of such markets may be too high to justify the establishment of a market that involves all "emitters" of carbon gases, from large industrial firms through to the individual household using fossil fuels. A carbon tax avoids these transactions costs. In global trading of permits, large countries can influence prices. For a large seller, it is optimal to have higher emissions than the level indicated by the marginal cost of reductions (the market price for quota); and the opposite holds true for a large buyer (see Hoel, 1990).

A potential problem with permit markets is that the supply of permits is by no means guaranteed to be intertemporally fixed. New information about the costs of emission reductions and of global warming will induce policy makers to change the total supply. Furthermore, such changes cannot be preannounced at the initial time period since the changes are a function of the new information in future periods. New information is therefore similar to random shocks. This exposes permit holders to the risk of permit price changes that cannot be ignored. Two ways of getting around this problem are to establish a futures market, or to let permits expire at the end of each time period in order to issue the new supply at market determined prices. Clearly, additional transactions costs will be unavoidable, thereby making tradeable permits less of an attractive instrument.

It is not clear whether or not there will be a regional or global policy response to the greenhouse effect. In the event of such a response, the most talked about scenario is to set a target of a certain percentage global emissions reduction below their current (or some future) level, or to stabilize the current (or some future) global stock of emissions. The most frequently discussed target is a 20% reduction below current levels by a specific year, although a 50% reduction is considered necessary to stabilize the stock of global emissions at current levels (World Resources Institute 1990). What is the optimal policy instrument to achieve this objective? A carbon tax will result in some uncertainty about the magnitude of reductions but less uncertainty about the cost of reductions. Under a regime with tradeable permits the magnitude of emission reductions will be known, but there may be great uncertainty about the total cost of reductions. This is an important distinction between the two instruments in the case of global warming. Oates and Portney (1991) make this distinction when comparing a carbon tax with tradeable permits. If there is great uncertainty regarding the costs of emission reductions, a tax is preferred in order to avoid potentially large unexpected costs. (This is particularly important if the marginal costs of reduction are rising steeply after some initial reductions have been achieved.) However, if the costs of global warming are believed to be unacceptably high or there is a threshold effect, it becomes very important to limit total emissions to an upper bound. In this case, tradeable permits are preferred to a tax even though there will be great uncertainty regarding the costs of emission reductions. At this point in time, we do not know whether there is a threshold with respect to the stock of carbon emissions beyond which temperatures would rise exponentially. Furthermore, we know little about the economic costs and environmental consequences of global warming. Given present ignorance regarding the global warming phenomenon, one might currently argue for a carbon tax in order to limit unexpected costs of emission reductions. When, or if, future research reveals more about possible threshold effects and the costs of warming, tradeable permits may become the appropriate instrument.

A global tradeable permit (or carbon tax) regime poses an additional problem in terms of initial permit allocations (or redistribution of tax revenues). Larsen and Shah (1992b) evaluate alternative allocations, such as allocations relative to GDP or population, and conclude that neither of the two are likely to induce participation from significant groups of countries. They propose an alternative allocation, based on willingness to pay for carbon reductions, that may induce broader participation in an international treaty.

7.0 Summary and Conclusions

This paper has evaluated the case for carbon taxes on national interest grounds. As a background to this discussion, it has also reviewed current energy pricing regimes in developing countries and their implications for greenhouse gas emissions (Larsen and Shah, 1992). The following conclusions emerge from the analysis:

• A global carbon tax raises difficult issues of tax administration, compliance and international resource transfer, and is therefore unlikely to be implemented in the near future.

• National carbon taxes can raise significant amounts of revenue in a cost effective manner and, in developing countries, are not likely to have as regressive an impact as commonly perceived. Such a tax also fares quite well in efficiency terms if introduced in a revenue-neutral manner as a partial replacement for corporate income taxes. In general, the welfare costs of carbon taxes vary directly with the existing level of energy taxes and therefore a carbon tax should be the instrument of choice for countries with no or low levels of energy taxation, such as Indonesia and India.

• A carbon tax also has significant benefits in terms of local pollutant reductions in addition to CO_2 reductions. The cost-benefit analysis for selected countries presented in this paper suggests that countries with low or non-existent energy taxes can receive substantial net gains from a carbon tax, not just in efficiency terms, but on grounds of local environmental considerations alone.

• A carbon tax of US \$10/ton results in very small output losses for the Pakistani industries analyzed in this paper. The estimated effects are somewhat lower than comparable estimates for the U.S. obtained by Jorgenson-Wilcoxen (1990). The value added losses are, however, offset by the health benefits associated with reductions in NOx, SO₂ and particulate matter (PM) emissions, even if reductions of global externalities associated with the curtailment of CO₂ emissions are ignored.

• Tradeable permits represent a preferred alternative to carbon taxes should there be a known critical threshold in the stock of carbon emissions beyond which temperatures would rise exponentially. Given our current lack of knowledge about the costs of carbon emission reductions and the threshold effect, a carbon tax appears to be a superior and more flexible instrument that avoids potentially large and unexpected costs.

Thus, while a universal case for national carbon taxes cannot be made, even ignoring global externalities, such taxes make eminent sense for a large number of developing countries in terms of efficiency, equity and local environmental externality considerations.

APPENDIX: Measurement of Differential Welfare Costs of Carbon Taxes

Welfare costs L of a tax system $T_1 = (T_1^1, T_1^2, ..., T_1^n)$ introduced at a non-distorted equilibrium with prices $p_0 = (p_0^1, p_0^2, ..., p_0^n)$ is defined as the difference in the expenditure level E necessary to maintain a utility level \overline{U} in the presence of T and the expenditure level required to sustain \overline{U} in the absence of T, minus the tax revenues R:

$$L(p_{1},p_{0},\tilde{U}) = E(p_{1},\tilde{U}) - E(p_{0},\tilde{U}) - R(p_{1},p_{0},\tilde{U})$$
(1)

with $p_1 = p_0 + T_1$.

The expenditure functions can be approximated by a second order Taylor expansion in prices. Thus in general the welfare costs of taxes introduced at a non-distorted initial equilibrium is

$$L = -\frac{1}{2} \sum \sum S_{1}^{ij} T_{1}^{i} T_{1}^{j}$$
(2)

where $S_1^{ij} = \delta X_1^{i} / \delta p_1^{j}$, the cross-derivative of the compensated demand function and T_i is the unit tax of good i.

In the presence of existing taxes, welfare costs of changes in the tax system is not simply L. An intermediate step becomes necessary (Feldstein 1978). Consider a revenue neutral tax policy change such that $p_2 = p_1 + T_2$, with T_2 a vector of additional taxes. The total welfare costs of the tax system $T_1 + T_2$ is

$$L'(p_2,p_0,\bar{U}) = E(p_2,\bar{U}) - E(p_0,\tilde{U}) - R(p_2,p_0,\bar{U})$$
 (3)

or in general

$$L' = -\frac{1}{2} \sum \sum S_2^{ij} (T_1^{i} + T_2^{i}) (T_1^{j} + T_2^{j})$$
(4)

The additional welfare costs of the revenue neutral tax change is

$$L^{N} = L - L' = E(p_{1}, \overline{U}) - E(p_{2}, \overline{U})$$
 (5)

since $R(p_2, p_0, \overline{U}) = R(p_1, p_0, \overline{U})$ because of revenue neutrality.

Case A: Welfare Costs of Carbon Taxes That Displace Equal Yield Personal Income taxes.

Consider the case of two goods (x, 1-H), where x is fossil fuels and 1-H is leisure (H is supply of labor). Prices of fossil fuels and leisure is (P₀, W₀) in an initial non-distorted equilibrium. The welfare cost of pre-existing taxes on fossil fuels and labor income (T_1^x, T_1^H), before introducing a carbon tax, is given by (2):

$$L = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial x}{\partial p} T_1^x T_1^x - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial x}{\partial w} T_1^x T_1^H - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial (1-H)}{\partial p} T_1^x T_1^H - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial (1-H)}{\partial p} T_1^x T_1^H$$

$$(6)$$

with $T_1^{H} = W_1 - W_0 < 0$, $T_1^{x} = p_1 - p_0 > 0$. Writing L with compensated elasticities, (5) becomes

$$L = -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{xp} \left(\frac{T_{1}^{x}}{p_{1}} \right)^{2} p_{1} x_{1} - \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{xW} \left(\frac{T_{1}^{x}}{p_{1}} \right) \left(\frac{T_{1}^{H}}{W_{1}} \right) p_{1} x_{1}$$

+ $\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{Hp} \left(\frac{T_{1}^{x}}{P_{1}} \right) \left(\frac{T_{1}^{H}}{W_{1}} \right)^{2} W_{1} H_{1}$ (7)
+ $\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{HW} \left(\frac{T_{1}^{H}}{W_{1}} \right)^{2} W_{1} H_{1}$

with the elasticities evaluated at (p_1, x_1) and (w_1, H_1) .

Suppose that carbon taxes are levied on fossil fuels $T_2^x = p_2 - p_1 > 0$, in addition to existing taxes T_1^x , and that labor income taxes are reduced in a revenue neutral manner $T_2^H = W_2 - W_1 > 0$. The welfare cost of the tax system $(T_1^x + T_2^x, T_1^H + T_2^H)$ is given by (4):

$$L' = -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon'_{xp} \left(\frac{T_1^{x} + T_1^{x}}{p_2}\right)^2 p_2 x_2 - \frac{1}{2} \epsilon'_{xW} \left(\frac{T_1^{x} + T_2^{x}}{p_2}\right) \left(\frac{T_1^{H} + T_2^{H}}{W_2}\right) p_2 x_2 + \frac{1}{2} \epsilon'_{HP} \left(\frac{T_1^{x} + T_2^{x}}{p_2}\right) \left(\frac{T_1^{H} + T_2^{H}}{W_2}\right) W_2 H_2 + \frac{1}{2} \epsilon'_{HW} \left(\frac{T_1^{H} + T_2^{H}}{W_2}\right)^2 W_2 H_2$$

$$(7')$$

with the elasticities now evaluated at (P_2, X_2) and (W_2, H_2) .

The change in welfare costs of the revenue neutral tax change is

$$L^{N} = L - L' = -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{xp} \left[\frac{(T_1^{x})^2 - (T_1^{x} + T_2^{x})^2}{p_1^2} \right] p_1 x_1$$

$$-\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{xw} \left[\frac{T_1^{x} T_1^{H} - (T_1^{x} + T_2^{x}) (T_1^{H} + T_2^{H})}{P_1 W_1} \right] p_1 x_1 \cdot \theta$$

$$+\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{Hp} \left[\frac{T_1^{x} T_1^{H} - (T_1^{x} + T_2^{x}) (T_1^{H} + T_2^{H})}{P_1 W_1} \right] W_1 H_1 \cdot \theta$$

$$+\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{HN} \left[\frac{(T_1^{H})^2 - (T_1^{H} + T_2^{H})^2}{W_1^2} \right] W_1 H_1$$

(8)

where θ = share of energy in total consumption and by noting that

$$\epsilon'_{xp} \left(\frac{T_1^x + T_2^x}{p_2}\right)^2 p_2 x_2 = \epsilon_{xp} \left(\frac{T_1^x + T_2^x}{p_1}\right)^2 p_1 x_1$$

and similarly for the other elasticities. The indirect terms are multiplied by the expenditure share of fossil fuels, θ , to account for the fact that in reality there are more goods than leisure and fossil fuels.

The first term in (8) is the direct effect on consumption of fossil fuels of higher fossil fuel prices. The last term is the direct effect on labor supply of higher after tax wages. The

two middle terms are the indirect effects (cross effects) on fossil fuel consumption of higher after tax wages and on labor supply of higher fossil fuel prices (lower real wages).

 $L^{N} > 0$ would imply a welfare gain from the revenue neutral tax change.

We would like to express the two indirect effects in terms of ϵ_{HW} which can be accomplished in two steps. The first step is to express the third term in (8) in terms of ϵ_{xw} by noting that

$$\frac{\partial^2 E}{\partial p \partial w} = - \frac{\partial^2 E}{\partial w \partial p} \tag{9}$$

from the symmetry in the two-by-two matrix in the second order Taylor expansion of the expenditure function. The negative sign in (9) comes from the use of leisure as 1 - H. Given that

$$\frac{\partial E}{\partial p} = x$$
 and $\frac{\partial E}{\partial w} = H$

are the compensated demand functions, it follows that

$$\frac{\partial x}{\partial w} = - \frac{\partial H}{\partial p}$$

which is (9), and therefore

$$\epsilon_{xw} \frac{x_1}{w_1} = -\epsilon_{Hp} \frac{H_1}{p_1}$$
(10)

Thus, the two indirect terms can be expressed as

$$-\epsilon_{xW} \left[\frac{T_1^{x}T_1^{H} - (T_1^{x} + T_2^{x})(T_1^{H} + T_2^{H})}{P_1 W_1}\right] p_1 W_1 \cdot \theta$$
(11)

The second step is to express the compensated elasticity ϵ_{xx} in terms of ϵ_{HW} . Let

$$U = f(x, 1 - H)$$
 (12)

The total differential of (12) (letting $\partial u = 0$ is

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}\partial x + \frac{\partial f}{\partial (1-H)} \partial (1-H) = 0 \qquad (13)$$

From the first order conditions of utility maximization

$$\frac{\partial f/\partial x}{\partial f/\partial (1-H)} = \frac{p}{W}$$
(14)

By (13) and (14) and dividing through by ∂W :

$$p\frac{\partial x}{\partial w} - w\frac{\partial H}{\partial W} = 0 \qquad (15)$$

This gives

 $p_{X} \epsilon_{XN} = W H \epsilon_{HN}$ (16)

To quantify L^N , T_2^H is derived from the revenue neutrality condition

 $\partial R = T_1^X X_1 - T_2^H H_1 = 0 \qquad (17)$

for small changes in the tax system. From (17) we get

$$T_2^H = T_2^x \frac{X_1}{H_1}$$
(18)

.

With (11), (16) and (18) we have

$$L^{N} = -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{xp} \left[\frac{(T_{1}^{x})^{2} - (T_{1}^{x} + T_{2}^{x})^{2}}{p_{1}^{2}} \right] p_{1} x_{1}$$

$$- \epsilon_{HN} \left[\frac{(T_{1}^{x} T_{1}^{H} - (T_{1}^{x} + T_{2}^{x}) (T_{1}^{H} + T_{2}^{x} \frac{X_{1}}{H_{1}})}{p_{1} W_{1}} \right] W_{1} H_{1} \cdot \theta \qquad (19)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{HN} \left[\frac{(T_{1}^{H})^{2} - (T_{1}^{H} + T_{2}^{x} \frac{X_{1}}{H_{1}})^{2}}{W_{1}^{2}} \right] W_{1} H_{1}$$

Note that the elasticity values applied to (19) are uncompensated elasticities rather than the theoretically correct compensated elasticities. The difference in terms of welfare cost is quite small (Willig 1976), approximately 10% with an income elasticity of 1 and $\theta = 0.05$ given our uncompensated elasticity values. This result may be derived from the Slutsky decompositions of the substitution and income effect. Thus welfare costs are slightly overstated here.

Case B: Welfare Costs of Carbon Taxes That Displace Equal Yield Corporate Income Taxes.

Corporate income may be regarded as return on savings (Feldstein, 1978), i.e. on assets or shareholders equity. Consider the case of two goods (x,R) in a two period model where x is fossil fuel consumption in the first period and R is second period consumption of first period savings, both in real terms.

Prices of fossil fuels (x) and second period consumption (R) are (p_o, p_o^R) in an initial nondistorted equilibrium. In the presence of existing unit taxes on fossil fuels and second period consumption (T_1^x, T_1^R) , welfare costs are given by (20):

$$L = -\frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial x}{\partial p}T_{1}^{x}T_{1}^{x} - \frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial x}{\partial p^{R}}T_{1}^{x}T_{1}^{R} - \frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial R}{\partial p}T_{1}^{x}T_{1}^{R}$$

$$-\frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial R}{\partial p^{R}}T_{1}^{R}T_{1}^{R}$$
(20)

with $T_1^R = p_1^R - p_0^R > 0$, $T_1^x = p_1^x - p_0^x > 0$.

If r_0 is the rate of return on savings in the corporate sector, then $p_o^R = e^{-r_o t}$ is the discounted (current) price of consumption in period T+1 in the case of no tax on corporate income. Similarly, $P_1^R = e^{-r_1 t}$ is the after tax discounted price, with $r_1 = (1 - t) r_0$ and t is the corporate income tax rate. Thus corporate income taxes reduces the real value of period one savings since $p_1^R - p_0^R > 0$.

Writing L with compensated elasticities, (20) becomes

$$L = -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{xp} \left(\frac{T_1^x}{p_1}\right)^2 p_1 X_1 - \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{xp}^R \left(\frac{T_1^x}{p_1}\right) \left(\frac{T_1^R}{p_1^R}\right) p_1 X_1$$

$$-\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{Rp} \left(\frac{T_1^x}{p_1}\right) \left(\frac{T_1^R}{p_1^R}\right) p_1^R R_1 - \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{Rp}^R \left(\frac{T_1^R}{p_1^R}\right)^2 p_1^R R_1$$
(21)

with the elasticities evaluated at (p_1, x_1) and (p_1^R, R_1)

Suppose that carbon taxes are levied on fossil fuels $T_2^x = p_2 - p_1 > 0$ in addition to existing taxes T_1^x , and that corporate income taxes are reduced in a revenue neutral manner $T_2^R = p_2^R p_1^R < 0$. The welfare costs of the tax system $(T_1^x + T_2^x, T_1^R + T_2^R)$ is

$$L' = -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon'_{xp} \left(\frac{T_1^{x} + T_2^{x}}{p_2}\right)^2 p_2 x_2 - \frac{1}{2} \epsilon'_{xp} \left(\frac{T_1^{x} + T_2^{x}}{p_2}\right) \left(\frac{T_1^{R} + T_2^{R}}{p_2^{R}}\right) p_2 x_2 - \frac{1}{2} \epsilon'_{xp} \left(\frac{T_1^{x} + T_2^{x}}{p_2^{R}}\right) \left(\frac{$$

with the elasticities now evaluated at (p_2, X_2) . The change in welfare costs of the revenue neutral tax is

$$L^{N} = L - L' = -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{xp} \left[\frac{(T_{1}^{x})^{2} - (T_{1}^{x} + T_{2}^{x})^{2}}{(p_{1})^{2}} \right] p_{1} X_{1}$$

$$-\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{xp}^{R} \left[\frac{T_{1}^{x} T_{1}^{R} - (T_{1}^{x} + T_{2}^{x}) (T_{1}^{R} + T_{2}^{R})}{p_{1} p_{1}^{R}} \right] p_{1} X_{1} \cdot \theta$$

$$-\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{Rp} \left[\frac{T_{1}^{x} T_{1}^{R} - (T_{1}^{x} + T_{2}^{x}) (T_{1}^{R} + T_{2}^{R})}{P_{1} p_{1}^{R}} \right] p_{1}^{R} R_{1} \cdot \theta$$

$$-\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{Rp}^{R} \left[\frac{(T_{1}^{R})^{2} - (T_{1}^{R} + T_{2}^{R})^{2}}{(p_{1}^{R})^{2}} \right] p_{1}^{R} R_{1}$$
(23)

where θ = expenditure share of fossil fuels in total consumption and by noting that

$$\epsilon'_{xp} \left(\frac{T_1^x + T_2^x}{p_2}\right)^2 p_2 x_2 = \epsilon_{xp} \left(\frac{T_1^x + T_2^x}{p_1}\right)^2 p_1 x_1$$

and similarly for the other elasticities.

The first term in (23) is the direct effect of higher fossil fuel prices on consumption of fossil fuels. The last term is the direct effect of lower prices on second period consumption. The lower tax on corporate savings reduces the inter temporal inefficiency. The two middle

terms are the indirect effects (cross effects) on fossil fuel consumption of lower prices on second period consumption and on savings from higher prices on fossil fuels.

 $L^N > 0$ would imply a welfare gain from the revenue neutral tax change.

We would like to express the two indirect effects in terms of ϵ_{Rp}^{*} which can be accomplished in two steps. The first step is to express the third term in (23) in terms of ϵ_{Rp}^{*} by noting that

$$\frac{\partial^2 E}{\partial p^R \partial p} = \frac{\partial^2 E}{\partial p \partial p^R}$$
(24)

from the symmetry in the two-by-two matrix in the second order Taylor expansion of the expenditure function. Given that

$$\frac{\partial E}{\partial p} = X$$
 and $\frac{\partial E}{\partial p^R} = R$

are the compensated demand functions, it follows that

$$\frac{\partial x}{\partial p^R} = \frac{\partial R}{\partial p}$$

which is (24), and therefore

$$\epsilon_{xp}\frac{R}{p} = \epsilon_{xp}^{R}\frac{X}{p^{R}} \qquad (25)$$

Thus, the two indirect terms can be expressed as

$$-\epsilon_{xp}^{R} \left[\frac{T_{1}^{X}T_{1}^{R} - (T_{1}^{X} + T_{2}^{X})(T_{1}^{R} + T_{2}^{R})}{P_{1}p_{1}^{R}} \right] p_{1}X_{1} \cdot \theta$$
(26)

The second step is to express the compensated elasticity ϵ_{xp} in terms of ϵ_{Rp} . Let

$$U = f(x, R) \tag{27}$$

The total differential of (27) (letting $\partial U=0$) is

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}\partial x + \frac{\partial f}{\partial R}\partial R = 0 \qquad (28)$$

From the first order conditions of utility maximization

$$\frac{\partial f/\partial x}{\partial f/\partial R} = \frac{p}{p^R}$$
(29)

By (28) and (29) and dividing through by ∂p^{R} :

$$p\frac{\partial x}{\partial p^R} + p^R \frac{\partial R}{\partial P^R} = 0 \qquad (30)$$

This gives

 $p X \epsilon_{xp}^{R} = - p^{R} R \epsilon_{Rp}^{R} \qquad (31)$

By substituting (26) and (31) into (23):

$$L^{N} = -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{xp} \left[\frac{(T_{1}^{x})^{2} - (T_{1}^{x} + T_{2}^{x})^{2}}{(p_{1})^{2}} \right] p_{1} x_{1}$$

+ $\epsilon_{Rp}^{R} \left[\frac{(T_{1}^{x} T_{1}^{R} - (T_{1}^{x} + T_{2}^{x}) (T_{1}^{R} + T_{2}^{R})}{p_{1} p_{1}^{R}} \right] p_{1}^{R} R_{1} \cdot \theta$ (32)
- $\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{Rp}^{R} \left[\frac{(T_{1}^{R})^{2} - (T_{1}^{R} + T_{2}^{R})^{2}}{(p_{1}^{R})^{2}} \right] p_{1}^{R} R_{1}$

It remains to express ϵ_{RD}^{R} in terms of the elasticity of savings with respect to the after tax rate of return for which elasticity alternatives are available.

Note that

$$\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{RD}^{R} = \boldsymbol{\eta}_{RD}^{R} + \boldsymbol{\sigma} \qquad (33)$$

where η is the uncompensated elasticity and σ is the marginal propensity to save out of exogenous income (Feldstein, 1978). Given that savings is $S = p^{R}R$, we have

$$\eta_{sp}^{R} = \frac{\partial S}{\partial p^{R}} \cdot \frac{p^{R}}{S} = \frac{\partial (p^{R}R)}{\partial p^{R}} \cdot \frac{p^{R}}{S}$$
$$= \frac{Rp^{R}}{S} + \frac{\partial R}{\partial p^{R}} \frac{(p^{R})^{2}}{S}$$
$$= 1 + \eta_{Rp}^{R}$$
(34)

By (33) and (34),

$$\epsilon_{RD}^{R} = \eta_{SD}^{R} - (1-\sigma) \qquad (35)$$

Recall that the discounted price of period T + 1 consumption is $p^{R} = e^{-rT}$ with r the after tax rate of return on period 1 savings. Thus,

$$\eta_{ap}^{R} = \frac{\partial S}{\partial p^{R}} \frac{p^{R}}{S} = \frac{\partial S}{\partial r} \frac{p^{R}}{S} \frac{1}{-Te^{-rT}} = \frac{\partial S}{\partial r} \frac{p^{R}}{S} \frac{1}{-Tp^{R}}$$

$$= \frac{\partial S}{\partial r} \frac{r}{S} \frac{1}{-rT} = -\eta_{gr}/rT$$
(36)

because $\partial p^{R} = -Te^{-rT} \partial r$.

It follows that

$$\epsilon_{Rp}^{R} = - (\eta_{sr}/rT + 1 - \sigma) \qquad (37)$$

To quantify L^N , T_2^R is derived from the revenue neutrality condition. With I being total tax revenues,

$$\partial I = T_2^X X_1 + T_2^R R_1 = 0 \tag{38}$$

for small changes in the tax system. Thus,

$$T_2^R = -T_2^x \cdot \frac{X_1}{R_1}$$
(39)

With (32), (37) and (39), we have

$$L^{N} = -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{xp} \left[\frac{(T_{1}^{x})^{2} - (T_{1}^{x} + T_{2}^{x})^{2}}{(p_{1})^{2}} \right] p_{1} X_{1}$$

$$- (\eta_{sr} / r_{1} T + 1 - \sigma) \left[\frac{T_{1}^{x} T_{1}^{R} - (T_{1}^{x} + T_{2}^{x}) (T_{1}^{R} - T_{2}^{x} \frac{X_{1}}{R_{1}})}{p_{1} p_{1}^{R}} \right] p_{1}^{R} R_{1} \theta \qquad (40)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} (\eta_{sr} / r_{1} T + 1 - \sigma) \left[\frac{(T_{1}^{R})^{2} - (T_{1}^{R} - T_{2}^{x} \frac{X_{1}}{R_{1}})}{(p_{1}^{R})^{2}} \right] p_{1}^{R} R_{1}$$

Case C: Welfare Costs of a Revenue Enhancing Carbon Tax with No Change in Existing Taxes

Consider the case of two goods (x, 1-H) as in Case A. The welfare cost L^N may be derived directly from (19) by noting that with no other changes in the tax system than the carbon tax on fossil fuels,

$$T_2^H = 0$$
 (i.e. $T_2^{\times} \frac{X_1}{H_1} = 0$ in (19))

Thus,

$$L^{N} = -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{xp} \left[\frac{(T_{1}^{x})^{2} - (T_{1}^{x} + T_{2}^{x})^{2}}{(p_{1})^{2}} \right] p_{2} X_{1}$$

$$- \epsilon_{HW} \left[\frac{-T_{2}^{x} T_{1}^{H}}{p_{1} W_{1}} \right] W_{1} H_{1} \theta$$
(41)

as the last term vanishes.

The case of a revenue increasing carbon tax may alternatively be considered by recognizing the indirect effect on corporate savings instead of the indirect effect on labor supply. In this case L^N can be derived for (40) instead of (19). The first term will remain the same and the last term will vanish, but the indirect effect will in this case be unambiguously positive since $T_1^R > 0$. This is because higher prices on current period consumption induces a substitution to second period consumption, i.e. savings will increase. Thus the welfare loss will be slightly smaller than the direct effect on fossil fuel consumption, contrary to the case previously considered with indirect effect on labor supply.

Case D: Welfare Effects of a Revenue Enhancing Carbon Tax with No Change in Exisitng taxes but Accounting for Subsidies

The calculation will only include the direct effect on fossil fuel consumption from a carbon tax, i.e. the first term in (19) or (40). Fossil fuels are disaggregated as petroleum products/natural gas (x) and coal (y). Notation is the same as before. Interfuel substitution effects are ignored in order to be consistent with calculations in Case A-c.

The expression for welfare cost becomes

$$L^{N} = -\frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{xp}^{x} \left[\frac{(T_{1}^{x})^{2} - (T_{1}^{x} + T_{2}^{x})^{2}}{(p_{1}^{x})^{2}} \right] p_{1}^{x} X_{1}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{yp}^{y} \left[\frac{(T_{1}^{y})^{2} - (T_{1}^{y} + T_{2}^{y})^{2}}{(p_{1}^{y})^{2}} \right] p_{1}^{y} Y_{1}$$
(42)

Note that the second term is positive (welfare gain) if $T_2^y < 2 |T_1^y|$. This is because $T_1^y < 0$ is a subsidy.

REFERENCES

- Anderson, Dennis (1991) "Energy and The Environment". Special Briefing Paper, The Wealth of Nations Foundation.
- Angell, V. and Srinivasan, S. (1991) "Economic Issues Related To Greenhouse Gas Emissions Abatement in Asia". Discussion Paper (draft), Asia Technical Department, Environment Division. World Bank.
- Asian Development Bank (1989): Energy Indicators of Developing Member Countries of ADB.
- Ballard, Charles L. (1990) "Marginal Welfare Cost Calculations Differential Analysis vs. Balanced-Budget Analysis". Journal of Public Economics, 41:263-276.
- Bates, R. and Moore, E (1991) "Commercial Energy Efficiency and The Environment". Background Paper No. 5. World Development Report 1992. The World Bank. Washington, D.C.
- Bernow, S. and Marron, D. (1990) "Valuation of Environmental Externalities for Energy Planning and Operations, 1990 Update. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Tellus Institute.
- Bernstein, Jeffrey and Shah, Anwar (1991b) "Taxes, Incentives and Production: The Case of Pakistan". Processed.
- Birdsall, Nancy and John Dixon (1991). Some Economics of Global Climate Change: The Developing Countries. Processed.
- Browning, Edgar K. (1987). On the Marginal Welfare Costs of Taxation. <u>The American</u> <u>Economic Review</u>, March, pp. 11-23.
- Burgess, Joanne C. (1990) "The Contribution of Efficient Energy Pricing to Reducing Carbon Dioxide Emissions". <u>Energy Policy</u>, 18(5):449-55.
- Chishti, Salim and Fakhre Mahmood (1991). The Energy Demand in the Industrial Sector of Pakistan. <u>The Pakistan Development Review</u>, 30:1 (Spring 1991), pp.83-88.
- Churchill, A.A. and Saunders, R.J. (1991) "Global Warming and The Developing World". Finance and Development, June.
- Diwan, I. and Shafik, N. (1991) "Towards a North-South Deal on the Environment". The World Bank. Draft.

- Eckaus, Richard S. (1991) "Economic Issues in Greenhouse Warming". Presented at the World Bank, WDR Seminar, May 1991.
- Energy Information Administration: International Energy Annual 1989. DOE/EIA-0219 (89).
- Epstein, J.M. and Gupta, R. (1990) "Controlling the Greenhouse Effect Five Global Regimes Compared"; The Brookings Institution, Brookings Occasional Papers. Washington, D.C.
- Feldstein, Martin (1978) "The Welfare Cost of Capital Income Taxation". Journal of Political Economy, 86(2):29-51.
- Glomsrod, S., Vennemo H. and Johnsen, T. (1990) "Stabilization of Emissions of CO2: A Computable General Equilibrium Assessment". Discussion Paper No. 48. Central Bureau of Statistics, Oslo, Norway.
- Goulder, Lawrence H. (1991) "Effects of Carbon Taxes in an Economy with Prior Tax Distortions: An Intertemporal General Equilibrium Analysis for the U.S.". Stanford University and NBER. Draft.
- Green, J.R. and Sheshinski, E. (1979) "Approximating The Efficiency Gain of Tax Reforms". Journal of Public Economics, 11:179-95.
- Haugland, T. and Roland, K. (1990) "Energy, Environment and Development in China". The Fridtjof Nansen Institute. Report 1990/17.
- Hoel, Michael (1990). CO2 and the Greenhouse Effect: A Game Theoretic Exploration. University of Oslo, Preliminary Draft.
- Hoel, Michael (1991) "Efficient International Agreements for Reducing Emissions of CO2". <u>The Energy Journal</u>, 12(2):93-107.
- International Energy Agency: Energy Prices and Taxes 4/1990. OECD Paris 1991.

International Monetary Fund (1991): International Financial Statistics.

- Iqbal, Mahmood (1986) "Substitution of Labor, Capital and Energy in the Manufacturing Sector of Pakistan". <u>Empirical Economics</u>, 11(2):81-95.
- Jeetun, A. (1978) "Tax Shifting in Pakistan: A Case Study of Excise Duty, Sales Tax, and Import Duty". Discussion Paper 30. Applied Economics Research Centre, University of Karachi. Processed.

- Jorgenson, D.W. and Wilcoxen, P.J. (1990) "The Cost of Controlling U.S. Carbon Dioxide Emissions". Presented at Workshop on Economic/Energy/Environmental Modeling for Climate Policy Analysis, Washington, D.C., October 22-23, 1990.
- Kosmo, Mark (1989) "Commercial Energy Subsidies in Developing Countries". <u>Energy Policy</u>, June:44-53.
- Larsen, Bjorn and Shah, Anwar (1992a) "World Energy Subsidies and Global Carbon Emissions." Background paper No. 25. World Development Report 1992. The World Bank. Washington, D.C.
- Larsen, Bjorn and Shah, Anwar (1992b) "Tradeable Carbon Emissions Permits and International Transfers." Presented at the 15th Annual International Conference of the International Association for Energy Economics, Tours, France, May 18-20, 1992.
- Maler, K.G. (1989) "The Acid Rain Game" in H. Folmer and E. van Ierland (eds): <u>Valuation</u> <u>Methods and Policy Making in Environmental Economics</u>. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Manne, A.S. and Richels, R.G. (1991) "Global CO2 Emission Reductions the Impacts of Rising Energy Costs". The Energy Journal, 12(1):87-107.
- Moore, Edwin A. (1991) "Energy Efficiency and The Environment". Report for Environmental Policy and Research Division, Environment Department, World Bank.
- Morey, Edward R. (1984) "Confuser Surplus". The American Economic Review, 74(1):163-73.
- Nordhaus, William D. (1991a) "The Cost of Slowing Climate Change: a Survey". <u>The Energy</u> <u>Journal</u>, 12(1):37-64.
- Nordhaus, William D. (1991b) "To Slow Or Not To Slow: The Economics of The Greenhouse Effect". <u>The Economic Journal</u>, 101(July):920-37.
- Oates, Wallace (1991). Pollution Charges as a Source of Public Revenue. Processed.
- Oates, Wallace and Paul R. Portney (1990). Policies For the Regulation of Global Carbon Emissions. Processed.
- OECD (1989): Energy and The Environment: Policy Overview.
- OECD (1991): Estimation of greenhouse gas emissions and sinks. (Draft).
- Pearce, David (1991) "The Role of Carbon Taxes in Adjusting to Global Warming". <u>The</u> <u>Economic Journal</u>, 101(July):938-48.

- Pindyck, R.S. (1979) "Interfuel Substitution and the Industrial Demand for Energy: An International Comparison". <u>Review of Economics and Statistics</u>, 61:169-79.
- Pitt, Mark (1985) "Estimating Industry Energy Demand with Firm-Level Data: The Case of Indonesia". <u>The Energy Journal</u>, 6(2):25-39.
- Postel, S. and Flavin, C. (1991) "Reshaping the Global Economy" in Lester R. Brown ed. <u>State</u> of the World, pp. 170-88.
- Poterba, James M. (1991) "Tax Policy to Combat Global Warming: On Designing a Carbon Tax." In R. Dornbusch and J.M. Poterba (eds.): Global Warming: Economic Policy Response. MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Pourgerami, A. and von Hirschhausen, R. (1989) "Aggregate Demand for Energy and Dynamics of Energy Demand Elasticities in Non-Oil Developing Countries". <u>The Journal of Energy</u> <u>and Development</u>, 14(2):237-52.
- Radian Corporation (1990) "Emission and Cost Estimates for Globally Significant Anthropogenic Combustion Sources of NOX, N2O, CH4, CO and CO2". Prepared for Office of Research and Development, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.
- Repetto, Robert (1990) "Environmental Productivity and Why It Is So Important." <u>Challenge</u>, Sep-Oct 1990.
- Shah, Anwar and Baffes, John (1991) "Do Tax Policies Stimulate Investment in Physical and Research and Development Capital?". PRE Working Paper No. 689. The World Bank.
- Shah, Anwar and Larsen, Bjorn (1991) "Taxing Choices for Global Environmental Security". Research Proposal, Public Economics Division, Country Economics Department, World Bank.
- Shah, Anwar and Larsen, Bjorn (1992) "Global Warming, Carbon Taxes and Developing Countries." Presented at the 1992 Annual Meetings of the American Economic Association, January 3, 1992, New Orleans, USA.
- Shah, Anwar and Whalley, John (1991) : Tax Incidence Analysis of Developing Countries: An Alternative View". <u>The World Bank Economic Review</u>, 5(3):535-52.
- Sterner, Thomas (1989) "Oil Products in Latin America: The Politics of Energy Pricing". <u>The</u> <u>Energy Journal</u>, 10(2):25-45.
- Summers, Lawrence H. (1991) "The Case For Corrective Taxation". <u>The National Tax Journal</u>, September. Vol. XLIV, No. 3: 289-292.

- Summers, Robert and Heston, Alan (1991) "The Penn World Table (Mark 5): An Expanded Set of International Comparisons, 1950-1988". <u>Quarterly Journal of Economics</u>, 106:327-68.
- Tietenberg, T. (1985) "Emission Trading: An Exercise in Reforming Pollution Policy". Resources for the Future, Washington, D.C.
- The World Bank (1985) "Domestic Coal Pricing: Suggested Principles and Present Policies in Selected Countries". Energy Department Paper No. 23.
- The World Bank (1990) "Review of Electricity Tariffs in Developing Countries During the 1980's". Industry and Energy Department Working Paper Energy Series Paper No. 32.
- The World Resources Institute (1990): World Resources 1990-91.
- Uri, Noel D. (1979) "Energy Demand and Interfuel Substitution in India". <u>European Economic</u> <u>Review</u>, 12(2):181-90.
- Vashist, D.C. (1984) "Substitution Possibilities and Price Sensitivity of Energy Demand in Indian Manufacturing". <u>The Indian Economic Journal</u>, 32(2):84-97.
- Williams, M. and Laumas, P. (1981) "The Relation Between Energy and Non-Energy Inputs in India's Manufacturing Industries". <u>The Journal of Industrial Economics</u>, 30(2):113-22.
- Willig, Robert D. (1976) "Consumer's Surplus Without Apology". <u>The American Economic</u> <u>Review</u>, 66(4):589-97.

Policy Research Working Paper Series

.

	Title	Author	Date	Contact for paper
WPS934	Public Hospital Costs and Quality in the Dominican Republic	Maureen A. Lewis Margaret B. Sulvetta Gerard M. LaForgia	July 1992	P. Trapani 31947
WPS935	The Precautionary Demand for Commodity Stocks	Boum-Jong Choe	July 1992	S. Lipscomb 33718
WPS936	Taxation, Information Asymmetries, and a Firm's Financing Choices	Andrew Lyon	July 1992	C. Jones 37699
WPS937	How Soft is the Budget Constraint for Yugoslav Firms?	Evan Kraft Milan Vodopivec	July 1992	CECSE 37178
WPS938	Health, Government, and the Poor: The Case for the Private Sector	Nancy Birdsall Estelle James	July 1992	S. Rothschild 37460
WPS939	How Macroeconomic Policies Affect Project Performance in the Social Sectors	Daniel Kaufmann Yan Wang	July 1992	D. Kaufmann 37305
WPS940	Private Sector Approaches to Effective Family Planning	Karen G. Foreit	August 1992	O. Nadora 31091
WPS941	Projecting the Demographic Impact of AIDS	Rodolfo A. Bulatao Eduard Bos	August 1992	O. Nadora 31091
WPS942	Efficient Environmental Regulation: Case Studies of Urban Air Pollution (Los Angeles, Mexico City, Cubatao, and Ankara)	Arik Levinson Sudhir Shetty	August 1992	WDR 31393
WPS943	Burden-sharing among Official and Private Creditors	Asli Demirgüç-Kunt Eduardo Fernández-Arias	August 1992	K. Waelti 37664
WPS944	How Public Sector Pay and Employment Affect Labor Markets: Research Issues	Gail Stevenson	August 1992	PHREE 33680
WPS945	Managing the Civil Service: What LDCs Can Learn from Developed Country Reforms	Barbara Nunberg	August 1992	P. Infante 37642
WPS946	Retraining Displaced Workers: What Can Developing Countries Learn from OECD Nations?	Duane E. Leigh	August 1992	PHREE 33680
WPS947	Strategies for Creating Transitional Jobs during Structural Adjustment	Stephen L. Mangum Garth L. Mangum Janine Bowen	August 1992	PHREE 33680

Policy Research Working Paper Series

	Title	Author	Date	Contact for paper
WPS948	Factors Affecting Private Financial Flows to Eastern Europe, 1989-91	Mohua Mukherjee	July 1992	R. Lynn 32169
WPS949	The Impact of Formal Finance on the Rural Economy of India	Hans Binswanger Shahidur Khandker	August 1992	H. Binswanger 31871
WPS950	Service: The New Focus in International Manufacturing and Trade	Hans Jürgen Peters	August 1992	A. Elcock 33743
WPS951	Piecemeal Trade Reform in Partially Liberalized Economies: An Evaluation for Turkey	Glenn W. Harrison Thomas F. Rutherford David G. Tarr	August 1992	D. Ballantyne 38004
WPS952	Unit Costs, Cost-Effectiveness, and Financing of Nutrition Interventions	Susan Horton	August 1992	O. Nadora 31091
WPS953	The "Pedigree" of IEC Conversion Factors for Per Capita GNP Computat for the World Bank's Operational Guidelines and <i>Atlas</i>	Michael Hee ions	August 1992	E. Zamora 33706
WPS954	How OECD Policies Affected Latin America in the 1980s	Chris Allen David Currie T. G. Srinivasan David Vines	August 1992	T. G. Srinivasan 31288
WPS955	OECD Fiscal Policies and the Relative Prices of Primary Commodities	George Alogoskoufis Panos Varangis	August 1992	D. Gustafson 33714
WPS956	Regression Estimates of Per Capita GDP Based on Purchasing Power Par	Sultan Ahmad ities	August 1992	E. O'Reilly-Campbell 33707
WPS957	Carbon Taxes, the Greenhouse Effect, and Developing Countries	Anwar Shah Bjorn Larsen	August 1992	WDR Office 31393

.